



FACULTY COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

NOTRE DAME DE NAMUR UNIVERSITY

and

SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION, LOCAL 1021

July 1, 2017

to .

June 30, 2020



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLES FOR ALL FACULTY	
Article 1 - Recognition, Coverage, and Scope	. 1.
Article 2 – Savings Clause	2
Article 3 – Union Rights	2
Article 4 – Management Rights	4
Article 5 – No Strike, No Lockout	5
Article 6 - Non-Discrimination	
Article 7 – Support for Diversity Efforts	6
Article 8 - Academic Freedom and Professional Ethics	6
Article 9 - Grievance and Arbitration	7
Article 10 – Faculty Advisory Committees and Joint Labor Management Committee	9
Article 11 - Leave for Union Business	11
Article 12 - New Faculty Union Orientation	12
Article 13 - Just Cause, Discipline, Personnel File	12
Article 14 - Position Posting and Filing of Vacancies	12
Article 15 – Base Salaries	12
Article 16 - Faculty Development Funds	14
ARTICLES FOR FULL-TIME FACULTY, ONLY	
Article 17 – Health Benefits	14
Article 18 – Retirement	14
Article 19 - Faculty Workload	15
Article 20 - Faculty as Academic Unit Leaders	16
Article 21 – Layoffs & Severance Pay	17
PART-TIME FACULTY SECTION	
Article 22 - Course Teaching Appointment	18
Article 23 - Processing of Unemployment Insurance Claims	19
Article 24 – Instructional Services & Materials	20
Article 25 - Functions and Responsibilities of Part Time Faculty	20

W

Article 26 -Part-Time Faculty Special Compensation	
APPENDICES AND SIDE LETTER	
Appendix A – Academic Freedom	23
Appendix B - Professional Ethics	25
Appendix C – Full-Time Faculty Responsibilities	26
Appendix D – Full-Time Advising and Non-Regular Compensation Policies	28
Appendix E - Annual Faculty Plan And Report	30
Appendix F - Faculty Performance, Evaluation, Advancement and Other Policies	31
Appendix G -Faculty Development, Leaves, and Benefits Policies	59
Appendix H - Non-Discrimination	72
Appendix I – Salary Scales	75
Side Letter - Re: PPP	80
Signature Page	81

FOR ALL FACULTY

ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION, COVERAGE AND SCOPE

Notre Dame de Namur University recognizes Service Employees International Union Local 1021 as the exclusive representative for purposes of collective bargaining concerning wages, hours and working conditions for the following units of employees of the University:

A. Full-Time Unit

All Full-Time Faculty and Full-Time Librarian Faculty (Tenured, Tenure-Track, and Non-Tenure Track) employed by the employer; excluding all other employees, including without limitations: part-time faculty; core faculty; non-teaching faculty; visiting faculty and visiting scholars; staff members who teach on a part-time basis; full-time and part-time exempt staff and non-exempt staff members; research employees; University officers and staff who hold faculty titles and/or teach; supervisors (including Department Chairs and/or Program Directors who are supervisors as defined by the Act); managerial employees; members of religious orders; trustees; other professional employees; confidential employees; University emerita and emeritus faculty without full-time teaching duties; student-employees; matriculated students and guards.

B. Part-Time Unit

All part-time faculty, including Lecturers, Senior Lecturers, Assistant Librarians (part-time), Associate Librarians (part-time), Core Faculty, Part-time In-Residence faculty, Part-time teaching Professors Emeritus and Emerita employed by the Employer at its Belmont, California facility; excluding all other employees, full-time faculty, all administrators with faculty ranks, non-teaching faculty, Honorary Degree Holders, Deans, Presidents, Provosts, visiting faculty and visiting scholars, staff members that teach on a part-time basis, full-time and part-time exempt staff and non-exempt staff members, research employees, University officers and staff who hold faculty titles and/or teach, student-employees, University Emeritus and Emerita without part-time teaching duties, administrators, managerial employees, members of religious orders, trustees, other professional employees, confidential employees, and supervisors as defined by the Act (including Department Chairs and/or Program Directors who are supervisors as defined by the Act).

C. Coverage and Scope

Part I of this Agreement applies to University faculty members who are covered by either A above (full-time faculty members) or B above (part-time faculty members.

Part II of this Agreement applies to full-time faculty members, only.

Part III of this Agreement applies to part-time faculty members, only.

The Agreement covers faculty members of the University teaching at all locations, not limited to Belmont, and teaching in all modalities including traditional, intensive, on-line and hybrid.

A part-time faculty member shall not obtain full-time faculty member status, except following University posting of a vacant full-time faculty position and successful completion of the application and selection process resulting in the letter of hire signed by the University. A full-time faculty member shall not obtain part-time faculty member status, except following University posting of a vacant part-time faculty position and successful completion of the application and selection process resulting in the letter of hire signed by the University or upon retirement agreement that provides for part-time status.

Administrators with faculty rank may return to the faculty unit upon conclusion of service in Administration, retaining their date of hire as faculty member.

This Agreement in the form mutually executed by the parties constitutes the sole and exclusive record of agreements reached between the University and the Union. Each party hereby affirms that it had full opportunity to bargain collectively as to any and all lawful subjects of collective bargaining; therefore, each party waives the right to bargain collectively on any or all subjects of collective bargaining applicable to the period of this Agreement. The parties retain obligations to negotiate on effects as stated in the Layoff and Severance Article.

ARTICLE 2 - SAVINGS CLAUSE

It is the intention of the parties to this Agreement that the sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this Agreement are subject to applicable law and are separable. If any part of this Agreement is found to be invalid because of a conflict with applicable law, such invalidity shall not affect the remaining parts of this Agreement, and the parties shall meet to negotiate a substitute provision.

ARTICLE 3 – UNION RIGHTS

A. Union Security and Check off – Effective August 15, 2017

- 1. Each faculty member covered by this Agreement, who does not voluntarily acquire and maintain membership in the Union shall be required as a condition of continued employment to pay to the Union each pay period in which the faculty member receives a paycheck, beginning no later than thirty-one (31) days after the beginning of work, an agency fee (a service charge as a contribution toward the cost of administration of this Agreement and representation by the Union). The amount of such agency fees shall be determined by the Union in accordance with applicable law, but not more than membership dues.
- 2. Payment of union dues or agency fees, voluntary contribution to the SEIU Local 1021 Committee on Political Education (COPE), or contributions to a charitable organization selected from a list approved by the University and the Union may be made by all faculty members via the check-off procedure provided by this Article. It is agreed that the University shall assume no financial or other obligation arising out of the provisions of this Article, and the Union hereby agrees that it shall indemnify and hold the University harmless from any claims, actions, or proceedings by a faculty member arising from the University's actions in accordance with this Article.

- 3. Each payday that the faculty member receives a paycheck, the University shall, during the term of this Agreement, deduct from faculty member compensation a sum of dues or fees owed to the Union for the month covered by that paycheck and authorized under federal labor law, provided the faculty member has furnished the University a written assignment executed in accordance with the law. If the faculty member has not submitted the authorization form by the time of his or her first paycheck, the deduction shall be made twice from his or her second paycheck.
- 4. The University shall remit the dues or fees to the Union along with a list of payers within the first ten (10) working days of the month following the month of collection.

B. Posting

The University and SEIU shall post on their websites an official version of this Agreement.

C. Access

It is to the mutual benefit of the Union and the University that the Union timely communicate with the faculty covered by the Agreement.

To that end and for that purpose, the University provides the Union with full-time bulletin boards that are designated by mutual agreement between the parties.

To that end and for that purpose, the University permits privilege of physical access for campus meetings and events for unit representatives and other Union representatives at reasonable times and places, provided an appointment with a University representative is made in advance with the office of Associate Provost; however, use of University facilities shall be scheduled to University policies.

To maintain access privileges, Union access must be utilized in order for the Union to communicate with the faculty covered by the Agreement and must be compliant with University rules and regulations of general application, and not contrary to policies against harassment and discrimination. The parties will meet to discuss disagreements and, if they are not resolved, they may have recourse to the grievance procedure.

D. Communication

Intra-campus mail service, including electronic mail services, but excluding printing and photocopying, shall be available to SEIU at no cost for official SEIU communications. Faculty mailboxes may be utilized by SEIU for purposes of SEIU communication.

E. Designation of Representatives

The names of the SEIU Representatives, chief steward, union chapter officers, and other stewards will be provided to the Executive Director of Human Resources at least ten (10) days before the start of each term and within five (5) business days of any subsequent change.

ARTICLE 4 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

Except as specifically expressed in writing in this Agreement, nothing shall in any way limit or be deemed to limit the University in its exercise of management rights and functions, all of which are vested exclusively in the University, including but not limited to the following:

The determination, modification, direction, control and implementation of the University's mission, strategic plan, goals, resources, and priorities; the University's budgets, budget savings and/or plans for increased efficiency; the University's academic calendar during which courses and services will be provided to students; and the purpose, size, number and location of academic and other programs and departments of the University;

The determination, modification, direction, control and implementation of the University's rules and procedures for its operations;

The determination, modification, direction, control and implementation of the qualifications, skills, responsibilities, assignments and standards of performance and conduct for all employees of the University;

The determination, modification, direction, control and implementation of decisions of which categories of faculty and of which individual faculty members will deliver courses and educational services for students;

The determination, modification, direction, control and implementation of student recruitment, admission, and regulation of conduct;

The determination, modification, direction, control and implementation of the methods of operation and of organization of the work of the University, including instructional modalities for courses and other educational services for students;

The determination, modification, direction, control and implementation of decisions for the expansion, contraction, start-up and close down of any and/or all educational services and of administrative services, facilities and operations, generally and specifically within any campus, department, activity or function of the University;

The determination, modification, direction, control and implementation of appropriate staffing levels of any group of University employees generally, and specifically within any University department, activity or function;

The determination, modification, direction, control and implementation of decisions to hire, promote or demote, and employ, continue or discontinue to employ, or to transfer, reassign, or relieve from duty, employees of the University;

The determination, modification, direction, control and implementation of the construction, removal, specification and acquisition of facilities, apparatus, equipment or other materials; and

The determination, modification, direction, control and implementation of the use and identity of suppliers, vendors, external support, independent contractors, and subcontractors.

The above summary of the exclusive rights and functions of the management of the University is not exhaustive and does not exclude any normal or customary management rights or functions. The exercise, or non-exercise, of any rights or functions of management shall not limit or serve as a waiver.

The exercise by the University of the rights of management of the University shall not be subject to any claim by the Union or by any covered faculty member in any legal proceeding, grievance or arbitration, unless the exercise by the University violates a specified express written provision of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 5 - NO STRIKE, NO LOCKOUT

During the term of this Agreement, neither the Union nor any bargaining unit employees will engage in a strike, picketing, slow-down, or stoppage, nor shall the University lock out the employees. Violations of this provision may constitute just cause for discipline up to and including discharge.

ARTICLE 6 - NON-DISCRIMINATION

NDNU is an equal-opportunity employer and educational institution. NDNU prohibits unlawful discrimination based on sex (including gender), race, color, religious creed, age (over 18 years), mental or physical disability, medical condition as defined by law, national origin, ancestry, marital status, veteran status, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, and any other factor made unlawful by federal, state, or local law, including participation or non-participation in union activities. NDNU's commitment to equal opportunity employment applies to all persons involved in the operations of the University and prohibits unlawful discrimination by any employee of the University.

There shall be no retaliation for reporting complaints of harassment, discrimination or retaliation. A faculty member shall not suffer retaliation for participation or non-participation in SEIU activities.

Faculty will comply with University policies against discrimination, harassment, and reporting discrimination or retaliation. Failure to do so may be grounds for discipline up to and including discharge.

Faculty may choose to have a Union representative present during any meeting held under this Article.

ARTICLE 7 - SUPPORT FOR DIVERSITY EFFORTS

In light of the University's diverse student body and the University's effort to promote high quality teaching to the students, the University and the Union shall work together to promote racial and ethnic diversity of the faculty in the following ways:

- 1. The University will hold mandatory anti-racism and implicit bias training for full-time faculty. The University will seek input from the Director of Diversity and the Union on educators/trainers before final selection.
- 2. During the first year of the Agreement, the University will provide an expert faculty diversity advisor to work with the Director of Diversity to advise the Provost and President on the recruitment and retention of diverse faculty members.
- 3. The University will seek input from the Director of Diversity and the Union to promote best practices in the application and hiring process for diverse faculty. The University will allocate dedicated financial resources to support appropriate outreach efforts to solicit diverse faculty applicants.
- 4. During the final year of the Agreement, the University will prepare a self-study, reporting the racial and ethnic diversity of its faculty. A draft will be reviewed by the Office of Diversity, and a copy of the final self-study report will be delivered to the Union. During the first semester of the agreement, the university will provide the Diversity council with data that represents the 2016/17 faculty in terms of racial/ethnic and gender diversity, to serve as a general baseline for the self-study.

ARTICLE 8 – ACADEMIC FREEDOM AND PROFESSIONAL ETHICS

As described in Appendix A and B (Appendix A – AAUP Statement on Academic Freedom and Appendix B – AAUP Statement on Professional Ethics), faculty are entitled to full academic freedom, including freedom of research and expression.

Faculty shall enjoy the same rights and obligations of academic freedom and professional ethics as faculty, generally in US private universities.

When faculty employees express themselves as citizens, they should be free from institutional censorship or discipline.

Standards of faculty members' professional ethics and their teaching responsibilities include that they—and the Union—do not involve University students and prospective students in labor or employment disagreements between Administration and faculty members or their union. The CBA provides orderly methods of handling all matters through channels such as Joint Labor-Management Committee, Faculty Advisory Committees, and the Grievance-Arbitration process. These are important obligations.

ARTICLE 9 - GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION

The grievance procedure is the exclusive means for the resolution of all disputes between the Union and the University. The procedure is also the exclusive means for the resolution of claims by faculty member that the University has violated a provision(s) of the Agreement and by the University that the Union has violated a provision of the Agreement.

A. Definition-Grievance

A faculty member grievance is a claim by faculty member(s) that the University has violated term(s) of the Agreement with respect to their employment. The parties discourage trivial claims.

A union grievance is a claim by a unit representative or the Union, that the University violated provision(s) of the Agreement with respect to the employment of faculty members or the rights of the Union. A union grievance will be filed only by designated unit representatives or Union representative. At the start of each academic year, the Union shall provide the Associate Provost of the University with a list of authorized unit representatives, and update the list within five business days of any change.

A University grievance is a claim by the Provost or his designee, that the Union has violated a provision(s) of the Agreement that sets forth its obligations to the University.

Any reference in this Article to "days" shall mean calendar days, unless otherwise specified.

B. Procedures for Grievance

A unit representative may be present in any scheduled meetings with the faculty member with regard to a grievance filed under this article.

Grievances shall be submitted via email within the applicable time frame to the associate provost at the email address they have designated for this purpose.

A grievance should contain the name(s) of the grievant(s), the program, the date the grievance arose, the nature of the grievance, the provisions of the Agreement violated, and the remedy sought.

In all cases the grievance shall be submitted no later than 14 days after the grievant or union was aware that the violation occurred. Failure to respond to the grievance within the time limit set forth herein shall entitle the grievant to proceed to the next step, and the grievance shall be deemed to have been rejected as of the last day of the period for response. Any time limits set forth in this Article may be extended by mutual agreement, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. Should the Union submit a request for information pertinent to a particular grievance, the days falling between the Union's request and the University's response to that request will not be counted against said grievance's time limits.

Faculty members and the Union shall make an effort to resolve grievances informally with the University. If a problem cannot be resolved through informal discussion with an immediate supervisor, a grievance shall be processed as follows, except that grievances based upon a

suspension or discharge, or those initiated by a Union representative, shall start directly at Step 2 below.

Step One:

Faculty member and Union grievances will be filed with the associate provost via email with "FACULTY GRIEVANCE" in the subject line. The associate provost will respond within thirty (30) days after the grievance was filed.

Step Two:

If the grievance is not settled at Step One, the Union may advance the grievance to step 2 within 14 days. The step 2 notice will be filed with the University associate provost. The associate provost will schedule a grievance meeting within fourteen (14) days after the grievance has been filed at step-2. The associate provost will respond to the grievance within fourteen days after the grievance meeting.

Step Three-Arbitration

If the grievance is not settled at Step 2, within 14 days after the Step 2 response, the grievant may advance the grievance to arbitration with written notice to the Union, the University Provost, and the University Associate Provost.

When a party has requested arbitration in a timely manner, the Union and the College shall mutually select an arbitrator from the following list, by striking alternately from this list, the initiating party striking first:

Andria Knapp Barry Winograd Norman Brand

The Arbitrator shall be requested to render a decision within thirty (30) days of the hearing or receipt of the transcript or the briefs, which is later.

Prior to the hearing, the parties shall attempt to reach agreement on a joint submission of the issue to be presented to the arbitrator. The decision of the Arbitrator shall be final and binding on the parties and the affected faculty member.

The hearing shall be scheduled so that faculty member needed to testify does not miss scheduled teaching.

Each party shall bear the expense of preparing and presenting its own case. The costs of the arbitration proceedings, including compensation, fees and expenses of the Arbitrator, and the cost of any hearing transcript, shall be borne equally by the University and the Union.

The Arbitrator shall have no power to add to, subtract from, alter, modify or amend any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement.

Prior to arbitration, the parties may mutually agree to attempt to mediate the grievance using Federal Mediation and Conciliation Services.

ARTICLE 10 – FACULTY ADVISORY COMMITTEES AND JOINT LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

A. General

The Union and the University will jointly maintain four faculty advisory committees, three with full-time and part-time faculty representation from the two schools and College, and one with full-time faculty representation from the two schools and College.

The University, in its discretion, may convene additional committees that include faculty participation. If other committees are convened, the Administration will define the charge, responsibilities, and composition of that committee prior to the designation of faculty representatives.

The Union and the University will jointly maintain the Joint Labor Management Committee as provided below in this Article. The Union and the University will discuss and respond to each other's recommendations on topics of mutual interest and concern on subjects that are not within the scope of the faculty advisory committees.

By the Joint Labor Management Committee and Faculty Advisory Committees, the Union and the University implement shared governance.

B. Faculty Advisory Committees

The four faculty advisory committees are:

- o Curriculum Committee
- o Academic Standards Committee
- Faculty Professional Development Committee
- o Committee on Rank and Tenure (Full-time faculty only)

1. Committee membership

Committee membership operates as follows: The Union will identify in a letter to the Provost, faculty members from the two schools and College to serve on each committee. An individual faculty member shall not serve on a committee for more than two consecutive years, except Rank and Tenure where faculty may serve for no more than three consecutive years and where staggered terms are arranged.

Each academic year, the Provost will convene each committee by letter of appointment to its members. No faculty members may be designated to serve on two advisory committees until each full-time faculty member has been offered the opportunity to serve on such committee. For full-time faculty, performance of committee service in a timely and productive manner counts toward service requirements, as stated elsewhere in the Agreement. If the Provost determines that a committee member(s) is not performing committee service in a timely and productive manner, following written notice and opportunity for correction, the Provost may determine that the committee service does

gy

not qualify to fulfill the requirements and prescribe fair alternative assignment. Deans and/or Associate Provost attend ex officio

2. Responsibilities of the committees

Curriculum Committee: 4 members, 3 full-time faculty (1 from each school and College), and 1 part-time faculty at large, The Curriculum Committee advises the Administration on implementing the curricular goals of the University. The committee advises on pending decisions that may cause impact on the curriculum and/or the educational aims of the University. The Curriculum Committee advises on policies and requirements for general education and for baccalaureate and graduate degrees; on all academic majors and programs (including concentrations, certificates, and all other academic programs); on the quality of the curriculum; and on specific changes in curriculum.

Standards Committee: 3 members, two full-time faculty and one part-time faculty, 1 from each school and College. Committee advises on student academic standards and policies regarding admission, retention, probation, dismissal, and readmission. Committee members will hear and make recommendations on appeal cases concerning admission, probation, dismissal, and readmission of students, unless the Administration determines that a decision without committee review is feasible due to simplicity of issues.

Faculty Development Committee: 3 members, two full-time faculty and one part-time faculty, 1 from each school and College. The purpose of the Committee is to promote the use of resources inside and outside the University to foster both teaching effectiveness and academic scholarship. Committee members will make recommendations regarding University grants and seed money for faculty use in development of curriculum and pedagogy, scholarly research, and travel.

Rank and Tenure Committee: 5 full-time faculty members, with at least one from each school and College. Rank and Tenure makes recommendations to the Provost concerning personnel actions such as promotion in rank, advancement to tenure, and the granting of sabbaticals. As part of this process, the committee reviews and evaluates faculty portfolios and sabbatical proposals and provides recommendations for promotion and/or tenure and sabbatical leave. The committee provides feedback for third-year review candidates before they apply for either promotion or tenure. The committee also makes recommendations for appointment of full-time faculty as Professor Emeritus/Emerita and part-time faculty as Senior Lecturer. A majority vote is used in the recommendation-making process.

C. Joint Labor Management Committee

During the term of this Agreement, representatives of the Union and of the University shall meet in person as the Joint Labor- Management Committee for the purpose of:

- O Providing the input of the faculty to the Administration on University-wide matters of importance to faculty members;
- o establishing and maintaining effective and cordial labor relations;
- o exchanging information; and
- o resolving disagreements and preventing disagreements.

M

Prior to the start of each academic year, the Union and the University shall exchange in writing the names and the University employment positions, not more than six persons who for the academic year, will represent the Union and the University respectively. The Union and the University shall also specify in writing which of the University employees shall serve as its Co-Chair; respectively. The Union shall notify the University of up to three part-time faculty and up to three full-time faculty members to represent the Union on the committee.

Each Co-Chair will submit to the other, a proposed agenda at least two weeks in advance of meetings. The Co-Chairs will confer to attempt to agree on the agenda for the meeting. Possible agreed-upon agenda, items may be:

- Identification and discussion of grievances that have been processed in full, but remained (1) unresolved;
- (2)Opportunity for Local 1021 to provide the input of the faculty to the Administration on University-wide matters of importance to faculty members;
- (3) Opportunity for attendees to develop working professional relationships within the Joint Committee; and
- (4)Other matters agreed by the Co-Chairs to be on the agenda.

The Co-Chairs will agree upon meetings to be held at least 4 times each academic year, 2 times each semester, for up to two hours and, if the Co-Chairs mutually agree, for an additional hour. If the Co-Chairs mutually agree, up to two additional meetings per academic year and one meeting in summer, may be held to discuss a specific agreed upon topic of importance.

ARTICLE 11 – LEAVE FOR UNION BUSINESS

Union leave shall be governed by the provisions set out below:

Upon the request of SEIU with at least one semester advance notice (or less notice if mutually agreeable), the University shall grant in a timely manner union leave without loss of job security or status to one full-time and one part-time member. Such leaves shall be granted for one semester per academic year. During this semester the faculty member shall be compensated by the Union, not by the University. While on a Union leave of absence, the faculty member shall be eligible for continued, if a University care benefits for no more than six months (Cobra after three months), if the faculty member pays all the benefit premiums and if the plan allows for participation while on an unpaid leave of absence.

A faculty member who is on union leave shall have the right to return to her/his pre-existing parttime status upon expiration of the leave. Such leave shall not constitute a break in the faculty member's cumulative service.

ARTICLE 12 - NEW FACULTY UNION ORIENTATION

When NDNU schedules new employee orientations on a per semester basis, the new bargaining unit members hired in the current semester will be invited. They will include information on benefits and eligibility. Union representatives shall have at least thirty (30) minutes at the end of each new faculty orientation to meet with incoming faculty. The University will provide the Union with thirty days' notice of the meeting time, and a list of the newly-hired bargaining unit members and their departments.

ARTICLE 13 - JUST CAUSE, DISCIPLINE, PERSONNEL FILES

A. Just Cause, Discipline & Discharge

Discipline and discharge of faculty members who are not in probationary status will be for just cause.

For purposes of this Agreement, part-time faculty are considered probationary until they have successfully completed the teaching of one or more courses in two different semesters.

Any complaint made against any faculty member will be promptly called to the attention of the faculty member if the University reasonably anticipates taking disciplinary or termination action on the basis of that complaint. The purpose of this provision is to ensure that faculty members are notified of concerns in a timely manner.

B. Personnel Files

Faculty shall have access to the personnel files maintained by the University.

Faculty may review their personnel flies by appointment with Human Resources or their Dean's Office with ten (10) business days' written notice and may make copies of any non-confidential documents contained within the personnel file(s).

Faculty have the right to respond in writing to any document that is placed in their files identified in this Section.

ARTICLE 14 – POSITION POSTING AND FILLING OF VACANCIES

All vacant full-time bargaining unit positions will be posted on the NDNU website for a minimum of 14 days. Internal candidates who apply and are qualified will be given a personal interview and thoughtful consideration.

ARTICLE 15 - BASE SALARIES

1. The Full-Time and Part-Time salary scales will increase as follows:

Effective August 15, 2017, Four (4) % Effective August 15, 2018, Two (2) % Effective August 15, 2019, Two (2) %

- 2. PT faculty Step 6 (new Step 3) rate and Senior Lecturer rate to increase additionally on August 15, 2017 by 1.5 % and on August 15, 2019 by 2.0%.
- 3. FT Instructor rate and FT Step 4 rate and Step 5 rate for Assistant Professor to increase additionally on August 15, 2017 by 1.5%.
- 4. All PT faculty already on Step 1, 2 or 3 as of August 15, 2017 will move to PT Step 4 (new Step 1) on August 15, 2017.
- 5. All PT faculty already on Step 4 as of August 15, 2017 move to PT Step 5 (new Step 2) on August 15, 2017.
- 6. All PT faculty already on Step 5 as of August 15, 2017 move to PT Step 6 (new Step 3) on August 15, 2017.
- 7. PT Step advancement after August 15, 2017 to be based on NDNU course units as per the below chart.
- 8. PT Steps 1-3 are abolished August 15, 2017
- 9. FT Assistant Professor Steps 1, 2 and 3 abolished August 15, 2017.
- 10. FT Steps and Step Advancement to otherwise remain as per current.
- 11. New Part-Time Scale:

Step	Units Taught at NDNU
Step 1	0-48
Step 2	49-60
Step 3	61+
Senior Lecturer	Application at 60 units for Senior Lecturer can be made

- 12. Step 3 can apply for promotion to Senior Lecturer after achieving 60 NDNU teaching units. The Joint Labor-Management Committee will confer on a revised application and on recommended standards for evaluation for promotion to Senior Lecturer consistent with Appendix F.
- 13. Senior Lecturer sabbatical. The Joint Labor-Management Committee will work to create a procedure for Senior Lecturer part-time faculty to apply to achieve sabbatical leave. The procedure will be based on APPENDIX G FACULTY DEVELOPMENT, LEAVES, AND BENEFITS POLICIES, which affords Senior Lecturer part-time faculty this opportunity after 14 years of service, compensated at 6 units of pay. Anticipated issues to be discussed could include: the nature of any required portfolio, criteria for sabbatical project; years of service requirement, etc.

ARTICLE 16 - FACULTY DEVELOPMENT FUNDS

The University will provide a Faculty Development Fund of \$80,000 per year, to be expended for fulltime and part-time bargaining unit faculty for any or all of the following purposes:

- 1. Faculty Development events on campus.
- 2. Faculty Research Grants.
- 3. Conferences.
- 4. Author's Retreat.
- 5. Faculty development courses offered annually on emerging technologies and pedagogies.

FULL-TIME FACULTY SECTION

ARTICLE 17 - HEALTH BENEFITS

The University will continue to provide health care benefits to full-time faculty. Benefits shall not be different than the health benefits provided to senior administrators.

ARTICLE 18 - RETIREMENT

A. Retirement Plan 403B contributions

The University will guarantee contributions to the discretionary 403b plan as follows:

Effective December 2018,

2.5% on the individual full-time faculty member's base salary

earnings in the prior fiscal year.

Effective date, December 2019,

2.5% on the individual full-time faculty member's base salary

earnings in the prior fiscal year.

For December 2017, and subsequent December during the term of the Agreement, the University's percentage rate of contributions shall not be less than the percentage rate of contributions for NDNU senior administrators, if any.

B. Voluntary Early Retirement Incentive

Tenured Faculty Age 65 with 12 years of Service-Application. Each tenured professor who is age 65 with 12 years or more years of University full time faculty service, may apply in writing during the term of the Agreement for voluntary early retirement incentive. In deciding in its discretion whether or not to grant the application, the University will consider the University finances, the existing and expected enrollments, the program needs and the desires of the applicant. The application will not be unreasonably denied; however, if the application is approved, the date of retirement may be set by the University beyond the date desired by the faculty member, due to the above considerations.

If approved by the University, the incentive payment will be the sum equal to the base salary earned during the academic year ending in the retirement. The payment will be made on regular pay dates in

equal amounts during the succeeding academic year unless a lump sum option is chosen to be paid. End of employment is August 14 of that same academic year. Any 403b contribution that is provided to active full time faculty in or about December of the year of termination will also be provided.

The University will thereafter have the option but not obligation to offer new employment to the retiree as a part-time faculty member on a per course basis and the retiree will have the option but not obligation to accept such offer.

The University will provide the Union with an application form to be used by faculty members who wish to apply. Upon request of Human Resources, this form will be provided to any eligible faculty member who expresses interest.

When the University and the faculty agree on the application, the final written agreement will be sent to the Union.

ARTICLE 19 - FACULTY WORKLOAD

A. General

The annual workload letter from the Provost to the faculty member states the specific assignments in the areas of teaching, service, any assignment as academic unit leader, and the expectation to engage in professional development and scholarship or creative projects. The annual workload letter will be sent to faculty by approximately May 31 and an update letter may be transmitted thereafter.

B. Teaching

The annual standard teaching work of all full-time faculty members is twenty-four (24) teaching units during nine months, and thirty-two (32) teaching units during twelve months. The University retains the discretion whether to define a faculty position as a 9-month, 12-month or some other length of position. The University retains the discretion whether to deny overload units of teaching to a faculty member who is not teaching the annual standard of teaching.

Twenty-four (24) teaching units typically consist of eight (8) three-credit courses during an academic year. Teaching units also include non-regular teaching assignments, including but not limited to courses with other credit values, laboratory units, music private lesson units, practice teaching supervision in the SEP and student mentoring and advising greater than the amount expected of full-time faculty. The Provost may assign teaching units such as new program development and other special teaching work. The amount of such non-regular units or associated supplemental compensation is stated in Appendix C—Full Time Faculty Responsibilities.

C. Professional Development and Scholarship or Creative Projects

Professional development refers to scholarship, research, and creative activities (in the case of artistic fields) which are pursued in order to maintain a high level of competence in a faculty member's field and related fields. Full-time faculty members are expected to demonstrate that they are meeting those expectations and the acquisition of ongoing intellectual knowledge of current academic development, activities, and trends in their fields to sustain and enrich their teaching and further the mission of the

university. See Rank and Tenure criteria in Appendix F. Faculty members will do so by the Annual Faculty Plan and Report as described in Appendix E.

D. Service

The annual workload letter assigns the following or its equivalent in service: one faculty advisory committee, Joint Labor-Management Committee, or other University committee; student mentoring and recruiting functions greater than the amount expected of all full-time faculty. In lieu of one or both of these service functions, the letter may assign other functions of service to the University, which may include creating new courses for delivery to students and other such assignments of an academic nature that are intended to create student tuition revenue.

E. Faculty Librarians

The annual standard workload for full-time faculty librarians, excluding the Director which is supervisory position outside the unit, include duties in the areas of reference consultation, instruction on information literacy and technology, collection development, assessment, and special projects as assigned. Librarians work on 10-month contracts, on pro-rated basis according to the full-time faculty salary scale.

F. Full-Time Non-Tenure Track (FTNTT)

Full-Time non-tenure track faculty members are not required to engage in non-teaching service to the University. They are eligible to receive professional development grants. After January 1, 2018, the Joint Labor-Management Committee may discuss providing opportunities for promotion for full-time non-tenure track faculty, as well as changing teaching load and/or service duties. Any such changes will take effect when the parties mutually agree on a Side Letter with a new definition of the FTNTT role.

ARTICLE 20 – FACULTY AS ACADEMIC UNIT LEADERS

The parties recognize that three schools (SBM, SEP and CAS) have diverse needs in respect to the nature, scope and equitable teaching or service release, for faculty member responsibilities for leadership of the particular academic units.

The Provost intends to bring to the Joint Labor Management Committee by approximately August 15, 2017, the future academic program organization within each school and CAS, including the number and configuration of each of the faculty academic unit(s) leader assignments. The Provost will provide draft descriptions (not including statutory supervisor duties) for each of the leader assignments and a proposed classification of each assignment as complex II, complex I, or noncomplex.

Equitable release means that Complex II assignments will have six (6) course release units per year; complex I assignments will have three (3) course release units per year; and non-complex assignments will fulfill the annual service obligation. The Provost may, at hisoption, propose supplemental pay for a particular assignment. These definitions apply to nine-month programs, and will be prorated accordingly for twelve-month positions.

The charge of the Joint Labor Management Committee will be to review the job descriptions and determine each of the faculty academic unit(s) leader assignments as complex II, complex I, or non-complex.

If agreement is reached in Joint Labor Management Committee by October 15, 2017, the agreement will be placed in writing and executed as a Side Letter and take effect January 1, 2018. If agreement is not reached by October 15, 2017, the Provost will make a written determination that is equitable and reasonable, to take effect January 1, 2018 or on such as date thereafter as the Provost determines. The existing semester course release time for the faculty academic unit(s) leader assignments will remain until the effective date of the written determination of the Provost.

If the Union disagrees with the written determination of the Provost, within the time limits of the grievance procedure, the Union may refer the matter to the grievance-arbitration procedure with the following issue: "Is the Provost's determination equitable and reasonable? If not, the determination shall be changed to become equitable and reasonable."

ARTICLE 21 - LAYOFFS & SEVERANCE PAY

In the event the University decides to reduce, eliminate, transfer, or otherwise reorganize a program(s) that employs bargaining unit full-time faculty who will be permanently laid off, the University will give the Union ninety (90) days written notice of the effective date of the decision. The parties will meet in the Joint Labor Management Committee as soon as feasible to negotiate effects proposals. Layoffs will be implemented in reverse seniority order, provided the remaining full-time faculty members are equivalently qualified to teach the remaining and prospective courses.

Any laid-off full-time faculty member will receive an offer of severance pay equivalent to one month for each year of full-time NDNU faculty service, up to a maximum of 12 months.

If the faculty member declines severance pay, s/he will be eligible for part-time faculty status.

The parties agree that the sole remedy for disputes under this Article shall be the grievance procedure, thereby waiving NLRB jurisdiction.

"The CBA provision entitled 'No-Strike/No Lockout' is not suspended during Article 21 negotiations.

PART-TIME FACULTY SECTION

ARTICLE 22 - COURSE TEACHING APPOINTMENT

Course Teaching Appointment: A course teaching appointment arises when a written course teaching offer from the University Provost or Dean is signed by the part-time faculty member and electronically returned in a timely manner. The written course teaching offer will identify the assigned faculty member's name; the academic program of the course(s); the academic year and semester(s) of the course(s);, and the compensation in dollars to be paid to the faculty member and starting in 2018, faculty's rank and step.

1. Assignment: Preferred Hiring Pool Courses: For courses regularly offered by the University to part-time faculty, the University will publish a preferred hiring pool (PHP) for each course for the next year it is scheduled. It will contain the names of part-time faculty members who have course seniority, who have successfully taught the course within the past four years. The PHP for the course will be posted on the part-time faculty portion of the University website, stating their names and their respective course seniority. The Dean will make offers to teach the courses to persons on the course PHP, except for bona fide academic reasons as approved by the Provost. "Regularly" is defined as courses offered twice in the last four years and at least twice by part-time faculty

If the University removes a faculty member from a course PHP, the University will give written notice to the faculty member and the Union, containing a statement of reasons. Except in egregious circumstances, part-time faculty will receive one month notice of the University's reasons to remove them from a course PHP, and will have an opportunity to address the concerns. Any information or complaint (including student evaluations) that is relied upon as the basis for a decision to remove a part-time faculty from a course PHP will be brought to their attention in a timely manner. A part-time faculty member removed from a course PHP will have access to the grievance procedure of the Agreement if the removal results in a loss of wages.

2. Assignment: Non-PHP Courses. The University appoints part-time faculty members on the basis of Article 25 Functions and Responsibilities of Part-time Faculty, and their course seniority. Course seniority is the number of times of completed delivery of that course at the University within the prior four academic years. The course assignment is made according to course seniority among qualified faculty. In the event of a tie in course seniority, the tie-breaker shall be date of hire in the University. The University will offer those courses with no incumbent faculty in order of seniority based on first date of hire with the University.

In making course teaching offers, the University does not consider whether the offer might give rise to eligibility of that faculty member for University health benefits. Part time faculty are limited to teaching of maximum of 22 units per academic year including summer.

3. Notice and Reasons: If the University offers a course (PHP or non-PHP) to a part-time faculty member who does not have the greatest course seniority, the University will give written notice to the faculty member(s) with greater course seniority. The notice will include

W

a statement of reasons for the University's decision, with copy to the Union. Disagreements may be resolved by the grievance procedure, if not resolved by informal discussion.

4. Course Posting: By March 2018 and March of each academic year, the University will post to a part-time faculty link to its website, a list of the courses that it intends to offer for the subsequent academic year. The University will make good faith efforts to post all courses to be offered and any error, omission or change of decision shall not constitute a violation of the Agreement.

Part-time faculty members must submit a statement of interest and qualifications, if they do not have course seniority, to the University within two weeks of the posting in order to be considered for courses.

Starting November 15, 2018 and continuing thereafter, the University will post on its website the courses for which it is recruiting part-time faculty. These course vacancies will be posted for a minimum of fourteen calendar days. Part-time faculty members who apply and are qualified in the judgment of the Provost/Dean, will be given thoughtful consideration ahead of external applicants.

5. Course Teaching Dates and Cancellation Fees: The University shall make best efforts to transmit course teaching appointment offers to part-time faculty members by the following dates. As the University improves its internal systems, the University will set earlier dates and notify the Union.

For Fall semester

July 31

For Spring semester

December 1

For Summer sessions

May 1

Exceptions to these dates are individualized teaching such as private music lessons, student-teaching supervision in School of Education and Psychology and other non-standard assignments that ordinarily do not begin at the start of the academic term.

Part-time faculty members will be paid a cancellation fee in lieu of the compensation whenever a course that is contracted for is thereafter cancelled. The cancellation fee schedule is set forth in the compensation section of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 23 - PROCESSING OF UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE CLAIMS

The University agrees that at the end of an academic term if not actively employed, and absent a reasonable assurance of future employment, faculty members may be eligible to apply for Unemployment Insurance benefits through California's Employment Development Department (EDD), subject to a determination of eligibility by EDD. The Union and the University agree that, as of 2015, the EDD uses the definition of "reasonable assurance" set forth in the California Superior Court's decision in Cervisi et al v Unemployment Insurance Appeals Board, as follows: "... under the statute, an assignment that is contingent on enrollment, funding or program changes is not 'reasonable assurance' of employment."

When the University receives written notice from EDD of a "Notice of Unemployment Insurance Claim Filed," the University shall reply to the EDD in writing, indicating the date of the expiration of the most recent teaching term, unless there are other material facts that the University is legally required to report.

ARTICLE 24 - INSTRUCTIONAL SERVICES & MATERIALS

Part-time faculty members shall have access to computers with Internet access, wifi, printers, photocopying, and tech support from NDNU staff at IT in order to prepare for classes and serve students. Faculty members who teach evenings and weekends will have access to campus office facilities and tech support in order to prepare for classes.

Faculty members shall have access to appropriate space to meet with and advise students, including private space when necessary. This should not be construed, however, as requiring private offices for faculty members.

Access is subject to cooperation with NDNU's procedures and policies that apply. Uses other than for NDNU activities are not permitted.

Prior to the summer 2017 term, a permanent secured central storage area or lockers will be provided for use of part-time faculty on the Belmont campus. Part-time faculty course teaching appointments will be augmented to identify private meeting space options on the Belmont campus.

ARTICLE 25 – FUNCTIONS AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF PART-TIME FACULTY MEMBERS

Part-time faculty are responsible to the Dean for the sound performance of their functions and responsibilities. Faculty members will abide by university policies.

The functions and responsibilities of each part-time faculty member are to retain competence in the faculty member's field of expertise and to bring this expertise to bear on instruction of course content and achievement of student learning.

Faculty members will adhere to the course description and to the learning outcomes. They will provide timely submission of a detailed class syllabus that demonstrates the faculty member's quality of compliance with all Learning Outcomes.

Faculty duties include attendance at new faculty orientation, if applicable, exclusive use of NDNU email addresses and servers for all email communications with students; timely and accurate submission of student midterm progress reports; timely and accurate submission of final course evaluations and grades; during the period of the course obligations, substantively responding to NDNU-related emails within 48 hours; and attending meetings related to course teaching obligations.

ARTICLE 26 - PART-TIME FACULTY SPECIAL COMPENSATION

Evaluation of Thesis, Capstone, or Portfolio

When approved in writing by the Dean, if a Faculty member fulfills the role of Second Reader of a Thesis, Capstone, or Portfolio Evaluation, and such work is beyond the scope of regular classroom responsibilities, the Faculty member will be paid \$300.

References for Students

When the assignment is made and approved in writing by the Dean, when a part-time faculty member writes a reference for a student who is no longer part of a class taught by that part-time faculty member, the part-time faculty member will be paid \$40. References written for students who are in a class taught by a part-time faculty member in that academic year are considered part of part-time faculty's regular work.

Independent Study Courses

When the assignment is made and approved in writing by the Dean, instruction in an Independent Study course will be paid \$500 per course.

Course Development

A. Traditional courses

When the assignment is made and approved in writing by the Dean, when a faculty member develops a new unit-qualified course that was not previously taught or held at the University, and upon the Dean's receipt and acceptance of a syllabus and the course as satisfactory, the faculty member will be paid a minimum of \$500 per unit.

B. Online Courses

When the assignment is made and approved in writing by the Dean, when a faculty member develops a new unit-qualified online course, and upon the Dean's receipt and acceptance of a syllabus and the course as satisfactory, the faculty member will be paid a minimum of \$500 per unit.

Participation in Mandatory University-sponsored activities and Professional Development Participation (during the period of the course teaching appointment) in all mandatory non-teaching university-sponsored activities beyond the scope of teaching duties, such as, for example, mandatory trainings, institutional assessment, or mandatory course or departmental meetings (1 per semester), and participation by part-time faculty in activities such as retreats, workshops, seminars, symposia, and trainings pertaining to teaching and teaching effectiveness, will be paid for each semester's teaching contract, with a monetary stipend of \$150 for fall and spring contracts, only.

Committee Work

Part-time faculty members who serve on a faculty advisory committee, Joint Labor Management Committee or Union beginning with the 2016-2017 bargaining, will be paid \$1,500 per semester, upon the completion of the charged work of the committee after the semester ends.

Substitute Teaching

When the assignment is made and approved in writing by the Dean, part-time faculty may teach a class session for another faculty member at the University with the approval of the Dean of the department or program in which the course is being offered. The University will pay the substitute

W

part-time faculty \$80/hour for each hour of class instruction. This pay is intended to compensate for preparation time as well.

Instructional Materials

If a faculty member is authorized in writing in advance by the Dean to purchase supplies, materials and/ or software for a course, or must use supplies, materials and/ or software as a requirement of the job, he/she will be reimbursed in the month following submission of a receipt or other documentation of the expense.

Field Trips

When the assignment is made and approved in writing by the Dean, all proposed course-related field trips must abide by applicable guidelines and policies relating to such field trips. If a faculty member receives written authorization to cover the costs of the approved field trip or similar expenses, he/she will be reimbursed in the following month submission of a receipt or other documentation of the expense.

Mileage Reimbursement

School of Education supervisor travel

Supervisors will submit mileage sheets on the schedule determined by the Dean of a department. Mileage will be paid at a flat rate (established annually by the IRS) by check in the month following receipt of approved mileage sheets. Supervisors will submit one-time, round-trip mileage for each student being supervised at the beginning of a semester, and will be paid for each trip during the semester of supervision based on the mileage submitted.

Travel to Tracy campus for the University

Establish a flat per diem travel fee that is paid to all NDNU Belmont faculty who travel to teach at the Tracy campus.

Other Special Compensation

Within six months of ratification of this Agreement, the Joint Labor-Management Committee will meet to review any other non-teaching compensation practices by the University in order to achieve a schedule of rates and system of assignment, uniform to the School.

Course Cancellation Fee

If an accepted course teaching offer is withdrawn after it is contracted for, the part-time faculty member will be paid a \$250 fee within 30 days, provided an alternate course is not offered in the same academic term.

APPENDIX A

American Association of University Professors (AAUP) Statement on Academic Freedom

Academic freedom is a special freedom, necessary to the mission of professors in a university. Professional responsibility is its logical correlative. As individuals, professors have the responsibility to conduct themselves in ways that will promote the achievement of the purposes for which academic freedom exists. And as members of a profession possessed of certain rights of self-government, university professors as a group have an obligation to keep their house in order and to take such steps as may be necessary to the fulfillment of their professional mission.

The responsibilities of a faculty member fall into the following four main areas:

- 1. his or her subjects
- 2. his or her students
- 3. the institution of which he or she is a part
- 4. his or her profession and the community at large

The professor's primary responsibility is to his or her subject—to seek and to state the truth in that subject as he or she sees it. In carrying out this responsibility, it is the professor's duty to guard his or her freedom to inquire, not only against overt assault, but against any personal commitments on his or her part that are incompatible with that freedom. The preservation of the integrity and vitality of their subjects also requires professors to comment on the work of their colleagues and to advise their own or other universities about the appointment, retention, or promotion of individual scholars. It is self-evident that the scholar and teacher will best fulfill this responsibility by attempting, as far as it is humanly possible, to base his or her professional judgments of his or her colleagues exclusively upon their work and upon their contributions, actual or potential, to teaching and inquiry.

The professor's central responsibility to the students is to teach them his or her subject and to do so in accordance with the best standards of scholarship in his or her discipline. A primary duty of the professor with regard to his or her students, accordingly, is to keep abreast of developments in his or her field. A further obligation is to see that the process of teaching and learning is conducted in an atmosphere of free and unhampered inquiry. The professor has a responsibility to his or her students to entertain all relevant questions and to guard the classroom against external pressures, including the student's fear that what he or she does or says in the honest pursuit of intellectual inquiries will affect their rating within a course, future chances of employment, or later standing in the community.

The relationship between teacher and student also has dimensions that reach beyond the classroom. It is clearly incompatible with elementary standards of professional or personal behavior for the professor to use his or her relationship to his or her students to exploit them for his or her own private purposes. Beyond this, the professor is obviously one agent among others in the personal development of his or her students. He or she influences them not only through his or her subject but through his or her own personal deportment and intellectual style, and it is his or her responsibility to keep this consideration in mind. It cannot be a requirement of membership in the scholarly community, however, that the scholar give up legal rights or personal liberties normally enjoyed by other citizens. Any attempt to impose a uniform code of personal behavior on all members of the university faculties endangers the foundations of free scholarship.

It may be assumed that colleges and universities exist for the same purposes that professors exist—namely, the advancement of learning. Accordingly, the primary responsibility of a professor to the institution that employs him or her is that he or she fulfill his or her responsibilities to his or her own field of knowledge and to his or her students. Administrative work, curriculum studies, committee service, and the like are, however, reasonable parts of a professor's duties. It is a responsibility of the institution to see that these burdens do not fall so heavily on particular individuals that they find it difficult to meet their immediate obligations to their subjects or their students. It is equally a responsibility of the individual professor to see that he or she does not sacrifice any one major area of responsibility in an excessive concern with the others. In activities in which the professor engages outside the college or university, it is plainly his or her responsibility to make it plain, when circumstances require, that he or she is acting as an individual and not as a representative of his or her institution or of the scholarly profession. It is also his or her responsibility to measure the amount and character of such work as he or she may do outside the university in terms of his or her primary responsibility to his or her parent institution.

The professor's obligations to the community, like the professor's rights within the community, cannot be less than those of any responsible citizen. His or her responsibility both to his or her profession and to the outside community is plainly the fulfillment of his or her responsibilities to his or her subject, to his or her students, and to his or her parent institution. As a citizen and as a member of a profession that depends upon freedom for its health and integrity, furthermore, the individual scholar also has an obligation to maintain and advance the conditions of free inquiry. This obligation reaches beyond the classroom or laboratory.

Appendix B AAUP Statement on Professional Ethics

Professors, guided by a deep conviction of the worth and dignity of the advancement of knowledge, recognize the special responsibilities placed upon them. Their primary responsibility to their subject is to seek and to state the truth as they see it. To this end, professors devote their energies to developing and improving their scholarly competence. They accept the obligation to exercise critical self-discipline and judgment in using, extending, and transmitting knowledge. They practice intellectual honesty. Although professors may follow subsidiary interests, these interests must never seriously hamper or compromise their freedom of inquiry.

As teachers, professors encourage the free pursuit of learning in their students. They hold before them the best scholarly and ethical standards of their discipline. Professors demonstrate respect for students as individuals and adhere to their proper roles as intellectual guides and counselors. Professors make every reasonable effort to foster honest academic conduct and to ensure that their evaluations of students reflect each student's true merit. They respect the confidential nature of the relationship between professor and student. They avoid any exploitation, harassment, or discriminatory treatment of students. They acknowledge significant academic or scholarly assistance from them. They protect their academic freedom.

As colleagues, professors have obligations that derive from common membership in the community of scholars. Professors do not discriminate against or harass colleagues. They respect and defend the free inquiry of associates, even when it leads to findings and conclusions that differ from their own. Professors acknowledge academic debt and strive to be objective in their professional judgment of colleagues. Professors accept their share of faculty responsibilities for the governance of their institution.

As members of an academic institution, professors seek above all to be effective teachers and scholars. Although professors observe the stated regulations of the institution, provided the regulations do not contravene academic freedom, they maintain their right to criticize and seek revision. Professors give due regard to their paramount responsibilities within their institution in determining the amount and character of work done outside it. When considering the interruption or termination of their service, professors recognize the effect of their decision upon the program of the institution and give due notice of their intentions.

As members of their community, professors have the rights and obligations of other citizens. Professors measure the urgency of these obligations in the light of their responsibilities to their subject, to their students, to their profession, and to their institution. When they speak or act as private persons, they avoid creating the impression of speaking or acting for their college or university. As citizens engaged in a profession that depends upon freedom for its health and integrity, professors have a particular obligation to promote conditions of free inquiry and to further public understanding of academic freedom.

APPENDIX C - Full-Time Faculty Responsibilities

Teaching Responsibilities: Teaching responsibilities include acquiring and retaining subject matter expertise in the course content and pedagogy developing, publishing and delivering the course content to students with excellence, at all locations and in all modalities including traditional, intensive, on-line and hybrid; timely performing high quality evaluation and grading of student work; program assessment work; timely meeting all scheduled classes and meeting all posted office hours each workweek of at least one hour per week for every three teaching units, except for illness or personal emergency that is immediately reported to designated dean and to provide substitute learning to students; excellent and timely personal attention to University students and administrators, including meetings called by provost and deans and program directors; prompt response via NDNU email server to emails and other contacts from program directors, deans and the Office of the Provost (including during periods when not assigned to teaching responsibilities); and the mentoring and advising of students of the amount expected of full-time faculty.

Professional Development; Scholarship or Creative Work: This two-part category of work includes academic research and writing, both that intended and not intended for publication and, in the case of artistic professions, creation and production of artistic product for public events. It can also include creating new courses for delivery to students and other such assignments of an academic nature that are intended to create student tuition revenue, if not greater than the overall full-time faculty workload for all categories.

Appropriate types of this work vary from field to field. Activities which provide the necessary academic and other professional development include but are not limited to the following: conducting quality research; publishing and serving as academic reviewer of academic articles, texts, or books; performing or exhibiting creatively; participating in academic presentations, seminars, panels, or dialogues; serving meaningfully in academic or scholarly ways in professional organizations or learned societies; consulting to business, education, or governmental institutions and in clinical practice, in ways directly related to faculty obligations; and carrying out the academic and professional obligations of grants, fellowships; and post-doctoral educational programs. Faculty members are expected to demonstrate ongoing intellectual knowledge of current academic developments, activities, and trends in their fields in order to sustain and enrich their teaching and to further the mission of the University through continual discovery of its educational dimensions and its relevance to their disciplines.

Service Responsibilities: An important category of work of the full-time faculty member is service to the University. Service work can include assignment to one but not more faculty advisory committee; to student mentoring and recruiting functions no greater than that of the norm for full-time faculty; and to other functions of service to the University.

General Responsibilities: All full-time faculty members will attend and effectively participate in school and program activities and University-wide functions such as University Week (fall), Convocation (fall), Professional Development Day (spring), and Commencement (spring) and all events involving students in their programs and other functions related to the responsibilities of a full-time faculty member. Faculty shall exclusively use NDNU email addresses and servers for all email communications with current NDNU students; timely and accurate submission of student midterm progress reports; and timely and accurate submission of final course evaluations and grades. Approved

outside work shall not exceed the equivalent of one work day (eight hours) per five-day week. Faculty members will abide by university policies.

Strong faculty presence on the campus is required. During the period of their contractual agreement with the University, full-time faculty members may not engage in any activities that create conflicts of interest with their University obligations. Teaching by full-time faculty at other colleges and universities require advance University consent.

If the School Dean or the Provost is concerned about whether a faculty member is meeting the standards of this policy, the Dean will discuss this with the faculty member. If a satisfactory resolution cannot be reached, the Dean will advise the Provost of the problem and of the specific steps that have been taken in attempting to resolve the issue. Further attempts at resolution shall be at Joint Labor Management Committee and then the Provost will inform the faculty member of the final resolution.

APPENDIX D – FULL-TIME ADVISING AND NON-REGULAR COMPENSATION POLICIES

Advising

- 1. Faculty members who do not serve as academic unit leaders can be assigned to carry up to 15 advisees as part of their semester full-time responsibilities and NDNU base salary.
- 2. If the number of advisees that is assigned is 16-30, 1 release time unit may be granted per semester by the appropriate School Dean if written in the workload letter.
- 3. Faculty members who serve as academic unit leaders are expected to carry up to 15 advisees as part of each academic leadership unit granted; if the number of advisees is 16-30, one (1) course release unit may be granted per semester by the appropriate School Dean if written in the workload letter.
- 4. Mentoring of students taking courses is not academic advising.

Faculty Senate

Faculty Senate President and the other 3 Faculty Executive Committee positions fulfill their annual full-time faculty service requirement for 2017-18 only, ending May 2018 and are excused from and do not serve, on all other CBA committees for 2017-18.

Non-regular teaching compensation such as lab units, music private lessons, practice teaching supervision:

A "lab unit" is typically the equivalent of two-thirds of a lecture unit. A lab course meeting three hours per week would count as two units of a faculty member's teaching load. Lab units are used for science labs, mathematics labs, writing center classes, physical education courses, and continuing-education classes.

A "practice teaching supervision unit" for faculty is typically the equivalent of one lecture unit per two students supervised. Two students supervised for one semester would count as one unit of a faculty member's teaching load. Supervisors observe students a minimum of eight hours per semester in addition to meeting with students both individually and in groups for a minimum of four additional hours. Supervisors are expected to attend meetings in the School of Education and Psychology as needed and to write letters of recommendation for the student's personnel file. All full-time faculty members in the School of Education are required to supervise student teachers regularly, as mandated by the CCTC.

A "music private lesson unit" is typically the equivalent of two lecture units per three students taught. Three students each meeting one hour per week would count as two units of a faculty member's teaching load.

Effective in the first semester after ratification, the practice of Small Group Study generally will no longer be used, except for teach out of program.

The Dean may decide to hold a course with fewer than the required minimum threshold of students as a regular course. The University will pay \$2,500 supplemental compensation, to be stated in the workload letter, if voluntarily accepted. This does not count as part of normal workload.

Evaluation of Thesis, Capstone, or Portfolio

When the assignment is made and approved in writing by the Dean and placed in workload letter, if a faculty member fulfills the role of Second Reader of a Thesis, Capstone, or Portfolio Evaluation, and such work is beyond the scope of regular classroom responsibilities, the faculty will be paid \$300.

Independent Studies

When the assignment is made and approved in writing by the Dean, and placed in workload letter, instruction in an Independent Study course will be paid \$500 per course.

Course Development

Online Courses

When the assignment is made and approved in writing by the Dean, develops a new unit-qualified course that was not previously taught or held at the University, upon the Dean's receipt of a satisfactory syllabus, the Faculty member will be paid a minimum of \$500 per unit.

Instructional Materials

If a faculty member is authorized in writing in advance by the Dean to purchase supplies, materials, and/ or software for a course, or must use supplies, materials and/ or software as a requirement of the job, he/she will be reimbursed in the month following submission of a receipt or other documentation of the expense.

Field Trips

When approved in writing by the Dean, all proposed course-related field trips must abide by applicable guidelines and policies relating to such field trips. If a faculty member receives written authorization to cover the costs of the approved field trip or similar expenses, he/ she will be reimbursed in the month following submission of a receipt or other documentation of the expense.

Mileage Reimbursement

School of Education Supervisor Travel

Supervisors will submit mileage sheets on the schedule determined by the Dean of a department. Mileage will be paid at a flat rate (established annually by the IRS) by check in the month following receipt of approved mileage sheets. Supervisors will submit one-time, round-trip mileage for each student being supervised at the beginning of a semester, and will be paid for each trip during the semester of supervision based on the mileage submitted.

Travel to Tracy campus for the University

Establish a flat per diem travel fee that is paid to all NDNU Belmont faculty who travel to teach at the Tracy campus.

APPENDIX E - ANNUAL FACULTY PLAN AND REPORT

By May 31 of 2018 and each academic year thereafter, the faculty member will file with the dean, a written summary of the faculty member's professional development and scholarship or creative projects that was performed during the academic year. The summary shall describe the events, activities and projects of a professional and scholarly or artistic nature by which the faculty member has fulfilled the expectations stated in Article 19 of the Agreement. Sufficient detail and narrative shall be provided so that meaningful discussion and collaboration between the dean and faculty member may take place.

APPENDIX F - FACULTY PERFORMANCE, EVALUATION, ADVANCEMENT AND OTHER POLICIES

PART I - CONTRACTUAL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

Part I contains the approved policies of Notre Dame de Namur University concerning the employment conditions of the faculty of the University. It is the section incorporated by reference into the course teaching appointments and annual workload letter of each faculty member. The provisions of this Appendix to the CBA are legally binding on all parties for the specific period covered by course teaching appointments and annual workload letter. Should there be any misapplication or misinterpretation of the specific provisions of this section, a faculty member, faculty administrator, or senior administrator may appeal the alleged misapplication or misinterpretation through use of the CBA grievance and appeal procedures.

I. Faculty Ranks and Titles

The faculty comprises all persons having appointment for instructional services to students. The faculty of Notre Dame de Namur consists of five distinct groups: ranked full-time, tenure track personnel, including both academic faculty and librarian faculty; part time faculty; special-appointment faculty, including adjunct core faculty, and faculty-in-residence; administrators with faculty rank; and faculty emeriti.

A. Ranked Full-Time Faculty

A ranked full-time faculty member is a full-time employee of Notre Dame de Namur University who has been assigned one of the academic faculty ranks (Assistant Professor, Associate Professor, or Professor) or librarian faculty ranks (Assistant Librarian, Associate Librarian, Librarian). The criteria for full-time teaching status are possessing rank and maintaining teaching units or librarianship duties, of at least fifty percent of the annual workload.

1. Definitions Related to Earned Degrees

- a. A "recognized institution" is a university or college that is accredited by one of the six regional United States accrediting associations (e.g., Western Association of Schools and Colleges) or a university or college outside the United States that is a recognized institution of international standing.
- b. A "terminal degree" is the highest degree awarded in a field in which the doctorate is not generally granted or required for promotion or tenure in institutions comparable with Notre Dame de Namur University. The addition or deletion of any terminal degree listed in this paragraph may be amended, effective the following fall semester, by the approval of (1) at least 50% of the full-time faculty in the departments; (2) the Committee on Rank and Tenure and (3) the President. The following degrees are presently recognized as terminal degrees for the relevant departments at Notre Dame de Namur University:
 - (1) Master of Fine Arts in Art.
 - (2) Master of Fine Arts in Theatre Arts.
 - (3) a. Master of Arts in Art Therapy Psychology or b. Master of Arts in Marriage and Family Therapy and is a registered Art Therapist.

- (4) Master of Library Science or Master of Library and Information Science
- (5) Masters of Fine Arts -- Creative Writing
- (6) Masters of Music for Artist in Residence

2. Tenure Track, Ranked Full-time Faculty

Ranked full-time academic faculty members in a tenure track position must possess doctorates or terminal degrees from recognized institutions. Rank is based on academic degrees and experience according to the following criteria:

a. Assistant Professor: An Assistant Professor must possess a doctorate or terminal degree from a recognized institution. The Assistant Professor must demonstrate teaching ability and promising scholarship, research, professional or creative activities, or other related experience, and must demonstrate potential to become a contributing member of the University community.

b. Associate Professor: An Associate Professor must possess a doctorate or terminal degree from a recognized institution. The Associate Professor must be a challenging and successful teacher; conduct productive scholarship, research, professional or creative activities; contribute effective service to the University; promote the mission and values of the University; and demonstrate inclusive excellence.

c. Professor: A Professor must possess a doctorate or terminal degree from a recognized institution. The Professor must demonstrate the ability to continue to serve as among the most outstanding of University teachers and among the most productive of University faculty members in scholarship, research, professional, or creative activities. The Professor must effectively and fully promote community engagement and leadership opportunities for students, perform effectively as a faculty administrator (if applicable); show strong faculty presence on campus; and contribute service in at least one of the following areas: academic mentoring recruitment and interaction, substitution for colleagues, or community involvement. Finally, the Professor must demonstrate engagement with the mission and values of the University and inclusive excellence.

Librarian Faculty Ranks

Ranked full-time librarian faculty members must possess master's degrees, doctorates, or terminal degrees from recognized institutions. Rank is based on academic degrees and experience according to the following criteria:

a. Assistant Librarian (full-time)

Qualifications for the rank of full-time .Assistant Librarian are: (1) possession of a master's degree in Library Science or Library and Information Science from a library school accredited by the American Library Association; (2) basic knowledge of library principles, practice and skills; (3) promise of performing professional level library responsibilities with potential for professional growth; and (4) ability to fulfill the requirements of the position assigned.

b. Associate Librarian (full-time)

Qualifications for the rank of full-time Associate Librarian are: (1) possession of a master's degree in Library Science or Library and Information Science from a library school accredited by the American Library Association; (2) five years full-time professional library experience at the rank of Assistant Librarian (or equivalent); (3) evidence of outstanding professional competence in one or more areas of academic assignment (reference, technical services, or collection management); and (4) service to the University or the profession or both.

c. Librarian

Qualifications for the rank of Librarian are: (1) possession of a master's degree in Library Science or Library and Information Science from a library school accredited by the American Library .Association; (2) possession of a master's degree from a recognized institution in a subject discipline in addition to the MLS or MLIS; (3) five years full-time professional library experience at the level of .Associate Librarian (or equivalent); (4) five years full-time experience in an administrative or managerial position; and (5) demonstrated leadership in the University, community or profession. The rank of Librarian is used for title position of Library Director.

B. Part-Time Faculty

A part-time faculty member is a part-time employee of the University who has been assign done of the academic faculty titles (Lecturer or Senior Lecturer) or librarian faculty ranks (Assistant Librarian or Associate Librarian). Part-time faculty always receive term contracts and teach up to eleven units per semester but no more than 22 units per academic year. They receive limited fringe benefits and limited tuition remissions and do not accrue time toward tenure or promotion. Part-time facultydo not accrue time toward sabbatical leaves.

1. Academic Faculty Titles

a. <u>Lecturer</u>

- (1) Lecturers are hired to teach specific courses on a term contract basis.
- (2) Selection of Lecturers should be consistent with the academic standards of the University. A person assigned this title must meet or exceed the minimal requirements of a master's degree, teaching ability and promising scholarship, research, or creative activities. In lieu of these requirements for degree, teaching considerable experience in appropriate technical, artistic, or professional fields may be substituted.

Senior Lecturer

(3) Senior Lecturer: This is a non-ranked, non-tenure position and is awarded only to long-term, part-time faculty members.

2. Librarian Faculty Ranks

a. Assistant Librarian (part-time)

- (1) Part-time Assistant Librarians receive prorated contracts dependent on the number of hours to be worked. This is a ranked, non-tenure position. Part-time Assistant Librarian term contracts may be renewed by mutual agreement between the University and the faculty member.
- (2) Selection of part-time Assistant Librarians should be consistent with the academic standards of the University. A person assigned this rank must meet or exceed the minimal requirements set forth for full-time Assistant Librarian.

b. <u>Associate Librarian (part-time)</u>

- (1) Part-time Associate Librarians receive prorated contracts dependent on the number of hours to be worked. This is a ranked, non-tenure position. Part-time Associate Librarian term contracts may be renewed by mutual agreement between the University and the faculty member.
- (2) Selection of part-time Associate Librarians should be consistent with the academic standards of the University. A person assigned this rank must meet or exceed the minimal requirements set forth for full-time Associate Librarian.

C. Special-Appointment Faculty

1. Full-time Non-Tenure Track

a. The title of Assistant Professor, Associate Professor, or Professor may be assigned to individuals in full time non-tenure-track positions. Depending upon teaching experience and other qualifications, faculty may be hired on an annual basis in order to provide specific departmental needs, including teaching, advising and mentoring, program assessment, and curriculum development.

If s/he is the person hired for the position, his or her teaching experience at the University will be taken into consideration in determining placement at the time of hire. The non-tenure track, full-time ranked faculty member's contract may be for a nine-month or a twelve-month period, depending on the needs of the University.

FTNTT faculty member is hired to teach on a term contract basis, up to a maximum of five years. Each contract of a FTNTT faculty member will state the length of time remaining to be served by the faculty member before he or she reaches the end of the contract term. FTNTT faculty term contracts may be renewed by mutual agreement between the University and the faculty member.

- b. Selection of FTNTT faculty should be consistent with the academic standards of the University. A person assigned this title must meet or exceed the minimal requirements set forth. For Assistant Professor with regard to advanced preparation for or possession of a doctorate or terminal degree, teaching ability and promising scholarship, research, or creative activities. In lieu of these requirements -for degree, teaching, considerable experience in appropriate technical, artistic, or professional fields may be substituted.
- c. Written evaluation of FTNTT Faculty will be conducted at the end of the first year of hire, based on classroom visits, course evaluations, and other criteria appropriate to the roles and responsibilities defined for the position at the time of hire. Thereafter, evaluation will occur in prior to renewal of the contract.

2. <u>Core Faculty</u>

- a. Core faculty are part-time faculty who receive an annual contract renewable by mutual agreement between the faculty m ember and the University. They teach a minimum of 18 units per year but no more than 22 units per academic year, and provide program consistency and excellence in teaching, create a fuller part-time faculty connection to the institution, take part in service opportunities, and meet specific department needs for committed faculty.
- b. The application to appoint a core faculty position will include the following:
 - Rationale for the appointment which includes both department needs and how the position will contribute to the overall needs and faculty profile of the University.
 - Nominated faculty resume, sample syllabi and course evaluations for the classes taught in the prior period of employment.
 - Projection of courses to be taught and other services to be rendered in the coming year.
 - Timeline for appointment, evaluation and reappointment processes.
 - Budget of additional costs to be incurred by the appointment.

- c. Selection of Core Faculty should be consistent with the academic standards for the University. Core Faculty will have the following qualifications:
 - Has taught prior classes with outstanding teaching evaluations.
 - Has a terminal degree or appropriate mix of academic and professional experience for the discipline and classes to be taught.
 - Is willing to commit to a long term, renewable contractual arrangement-two to three years, renewable annually upon mutual agreement.
 - Has maintained currency in field through professional/other activities.
 - Has demonstrated her/his commitment to the mission of the University.
- d. The Core Faculty contract will specify
 - The number of units and projected courses to be taught in the year.
 - Any additional responsibilities or activities for which units are to be given. The expectation that core faculty will contribute to the life of the University
 - beyond their teaching responsibilities.
- e. Evaluation of Core Faculty will proceed as follows
 - At least two months prior to the expiration of the contract, a formal evaluation of the Core Faculty will be based on the expectations set forth in the contract. This evaluation is expected to include observations of teaching, course evaluations and an assessment of contributions made to the life of the institution.

3. <u>Faculty-In-Residence</u>

Notre Dame de Namur University may appoint to the faculty distinguished artists, writers, poets, or scholars to the special faculty status of Artist-in-Residence, Writer-in-Residence, or Scholar-in-Residence. Such appointments may be on a part-time term contract basis or on a ranked, full-time basis.

4. Professor Emeritus or Professor Emerita

The rank of Professor Emeritus or Professor Emerita may be assigned to Associate Professors or Professors who have terminated their responsibilities as ranked full-time faculty members for valid reasons (e.g., retirement, illness) after ten or more years of distinguished service to the University. Under exceptional circumstances, long standing Assistant Professors may also be assigned the rank of Professor Emeritus or Professor Emeritia. Approval of emeriti status rests with the President.

II. Faculty Search, Placement, and Appointment

The quality of initial faculty appointments is vital to the quality of teaching and scholarship to which the University is committed. The following policies and procedures for recruitment to the faculty are intended to aid all parties in making timely and effective initial appointments.

A. Full-Time Positions: Faculty Search

- 1. Faculty searches are initiated by dean's office and coordinated by the Program Director. .
- 2. The Program Director discusses personnel needs with all full-time faculty in the program, the School Dean, and the Provost. In consultation with the department faculty and the Dean, the Program Director develops a proposal including a rationale justifying the appointment and a tentative job description. The proposal is then submitted to the dean and Provost for budgetary approval of the appointment.
- 3. The Program Director forwards to the Human Resources Director the application materials received from all candidates who will not be considered as final candidates for the position. The Human Resources Director then notifies these candidates that their qualifications do not match the needs of the position.
- 4. The academic unit leader confirms that each final candidate has met University requirements for possessing a terminal degree from a recognized institution.
- 5. The academic unit leader invites final candidates to be interviewed on campus. If a candidate wishes to be interviewed, the Program Director mails the candidate a Faculty Experience Form and requests that it be completed and returned to the academic unit leader prior to the interview, along with a copy of a transcript or equivalent document showing the work leading to the applicant's most recent degree.
- 6. The final candidates are interviewed by the search committee.
 - a. When interviewing candidates, the search committee also guides the candidates in understanding the University's Mission Statement and the Catholic heritage and values of the institution, including diversity. The members of the search committee satisfy themselves that the candidates can support the Mission Statement to respect the Catholic character of the University in their teaching.

- The search committee may also ask the candidate to comment on his or his Ъ. experience with the use and support of technology in teaching, and experience with community-based learning, with specific examples of each.
- The search committee provides the candidates with general information c. regarding placement criteria, promotion and tenure procedures, salaries, and fringe benefits. However, no commitment, direct or implied, concerning hiring, placement, or salary can be made by any search committee or by any person in the University other than the President, the Provost, or a School Dean.
- No commitment, direct or implied, concerning eventual promotion or tenure d. can be made by any search committee or by any person in the University.
- 7. When a decision has been made as to the final candidates, the Program Director sends in unranked order the names of the candidates and the application materials to the President, the Provost, and the School Dean.
- The Program Director in charge of the search process notifies the final candidates that 8. they are being considered for the position and that the candidates are invited for a final interview with the faculty search team, the President, the Provost, and the School Dean. The Program Director, working with the Provost's office, schedules the interviews. Following the interviews, the will then meet with the Provost to merge the recommendations of the administrative and faculty search activities. The Provost makes the appointment offer on behalf of the University. If there is not consensus about the top candidate, the Provost meets with the search committee to explore ways to reconcile the difference of opinion.

Part-Time Positions: Faculty Search В.

- Faculty searches are initiated and coordinated by the appropriate Program Director in 1. consultation with the School Dean.
- Persons wishing to apply are asked to submit a letter of application and a professional 2. resume to the Program Director by a given deadline. They are also informed that additional materials and 3 letters of recommendation will be needed if they are chosen as final candidates to be interviewed or if they are offered a position.
 - Applications from members of underrepresented groups are encouraged. a. Although the University is an independent Roman Catholic institution, it does not impose religious qualifications on its faculty. It accepts faculty members who are academically prepared demonstrate integrity of character, and meet its standards of teaching excellence.
- The Program Director in charge of the search process confirms that each final 3. candidate has met the institutional requirements for possessing a master's degree from a recognized institution. Final placement is the decision of the Provost and the Dean.

- 4. The Program Director invites final candidates to be interviewed on campus. If a candidate wishes to be interviewed, the Program Director mails the candidate a Faculty Experience Form and requests that it be completed and returned to the Program Director prior to the interview, along with a copy of a transcript or equivalent document showing the work leading to the applicant's most recent degree.
- 5. The final candidates are interviewed by the Program Director. The Program Director provides the candidates with general information regarding placement criteria, salaries, and fringe benefits.
 - a. When interviewing candidates, the Program Director also guides the candidates in understanding the University's Mission Statement and the Catholic heritage and values of the institution. The Program Director satisfies himself or herself that the candidates can support the Mission Statement and respect the Catholic character of the University in their teaching.
 - b. No commitment, direct or implied, concerning hiring, placement, or salary can be made by any search committee or by any person in the University other than the President, the Provost, and the School Deans.
- 6. When a decision has been made as to the highest-rated acceptable candidate, the Program Director sends application materials to the Dean, along with the recommendation that the University offer the position to the highest-rated candidate. The Program Director also prepares a Faculty Worksheet to accompany the candidate's file. If the Dean decides not to approve the hiring of the candidate, the Program Director then repeats the process described in this section with the next highest-rated candidate. If no acceptable candidate remains, the Program Director may then reopen the search.

C. Full-Time Positions: Faculty Placement and Appointment

1. <u>Definitions Related to Placement</u>

a. "Rank" for full-time faculty refers to a relative standing for full-time teaching and is based on academic degrees and experience. The administrator charged with the placement of a prospective faculty member will consider previous teaching and other relevant experience as die basis for determining years of credit toward initial promotion and advancement to tenure, if appropriate. While other factors may enter into the determination of initial placement, teaching experience at the college and/ or university level will be evaluated on the basis of each 24 units (or fraction thereof) as the equivalent of one year of credit on the placement scale. Initial placement will be communicated in writing to the prospective faculty member at the time of hire, as well as the date of eligibility for the first advancement evaluation.

- b. "Grade" for full-time faculty refers to the number of years of service in. the current rank, including the current year plus any years granted by the appropriate School Dean at time of hire as described in above. Initial grade is assigned by the Dean, depending upon academic degrees and previous relevant experience.
- c. "Step" on the full-time faculty salary scale refers to a relative standing for full-time teaching and is based on the number of years of full-time (FT) teaching or of full-time equivalent (FTE) teaching at the college and/or university level. In special cases, significant experience closely related to the teaching field may be used by the Dean in calculating FTE. Full-time faculty at the top step in a rank remain at that step until promoted to the next rank.
- 2. After receiving an applicant's file and final approval from the President, the Provost authorizes the School Dean to hire the candidate. The Dean completes an Initial Placement Worksheet for the candidate. The Initial Placement Worksheet-details the University's rationale for a proposed placement, along with any concerns regarding prior academic degrees or experience which, in the hiring administrator's opinion, might impact future advancement at the University. Full-time rank, grade, and agreement and may not be changed later except by mutual agreement between the Dean, the Provost, and the faculty member.
- 3. The Dean forwards the completed Initial Placement Worksheet to the Human Resources Director along with authorization to offer the position to the candidate. Final authority to hire and retain faculty members is vested in the President. This authority is customarily exercised through the Provost by procedures established to assure adequate consultation with the faculty and full compliance with human rights norms.
- 4. After receiving the candidate's memo of acceptance, the Human Resources Director notifies the Program Director, who then notifies all other final candidates that the position has been filled.

D. <u>Part-Time Positions: Faculty Placement and Appointment</u>

1. <u>Definition Related to Placement</u>

"Step" on the part-time salary scale refers to a relative standing for part-time teaching and is based on the number of years of full-time (FT) college teaching or of full-time equivalent (FTE) college teaching either after receiving a master's degree or after receiving a doctorate or terminal degree. In special cases, significant experience closely related to the teaching field may be used by the Dean in calculating FTE.

2. After receiving an applicant's file and within three working days of approving the hiring of the candidate, sends a notice to the candidate that the following will need to be received by the before a letter of appointment and final contract can be issued:

- a. For all applicants, an official transcript or equivalent document showing the work leading to the applicant's most recent degree, mailed by the institution's registrar directly to the [or delivered by the applicant in a sealed envelope from the registrar], which will be forwarded by the to the Human Resources Director.
- b. three letters of recommendation from professional colleagues not employed by Notre Dame de Namur University.
- 3. After receiving the candidate's official transcript or equivalent document and three letters of recommendation, sends the candidate's completed file to the School Dean. Part-time level is set by the Dean at the time of appointment and may not be changed later except by mutual agreement between the Dean and the faculty member. The Dean signs the Faculty Contract Worksheet and authorizes the issuance of a letter of appointment and final contract.
- 4. If a candidate does not accept the offer of a position or does not produce the documents necessary to complete a placement file, they will be so notified by the School Dean. The Program Director may then return to any appropriate step in the search process.

PART II - FACULTY PERFORMANCE, EVALUATION, AND ADVANCEMENT

I. Criteria for Faculty Performance

A. An Overview of Faculty Performance Policies

1. Membership in the academic profession carries with it individualized responsibilities for the advancement of knowledge, the intellectual growth of students, and the improvement of society. Faculty members must order and evaluate their activities in terms of their commitment to these goals, as well as in terms of their own professional development. Moreover, the performance of each faculty member should demonstrate her/his special obligation to understand and implement the nature of this institution of higher learning and its unique characteristics, philosophy and objectives, Mission and educational visions. Faculty member's performance should reflect the commitment to the contents of the mission and educational visions and to the improvement of its intellectual and practical effectiveness.

2. Each faculty member is responsible for carrying out in a fully effective and timely manner all of the duties and responsibilities agreed to in the individual faculty assignment. This responsibility includes the delivery of one's primary professional time, energy and talent to improve one's teaching performance, scholarly and professional achievements and to serve the University in its Mission and

educational vision.

3. At Notre Dame de Namur University, a full-time or part-time faculty member's first and paramount responsibility is teaching effectiveness. In addition, a full-time faculty member's important obligations include scholarly and other professional achievements inclusive of research or creative activities. A full-time faculty member must also demonstrate potential for ongoing service to the University by participation in such activities as academic mentoring and advising and faculty

41(W)

administration (if applicable), student recruitment and interaction, substitution for colleagues, and community involvement. Finally, a full-time faculty member must promote the mission and values of the University and demonstrate inclusive excellence. These various areas of responsibility are examined both when evaluating ongoing performance and when judging candidacies for promotion or tenure. The following statements outline in a general way the criteria by which faculty performance is measured.

B. Criterion 1: Teaching Effectiveness

1. Teaching effectiveness refers to command of the field of specialization as well as a broad knowledge of allied disciplines and general interest in the liberal arts or professional training; growth in scholarship and in use of new teaching techniques; presentation of material to students in scholarly, stimulating, and interesting fashion; and counseling and inspiration of students, thereby challenging and attracting them to become genuinely and ethically involved in their own education as evidenced by

greater achievement, individual initiative, and independent thinking.

2. Full-time and part-time faculty members are expected to conduct their classes and other elements of the course at a skill and quality level appropriate to the level of the assigned course. Each teacher is responsible for planning and presenting the assigned course material; establishing course objectives and requirements and making them known to students in course syllabi and subsequent assignments; selecting and ordering texts and supplemental materials; making both formative and summative evaluations of student learning; preparing, administering) and grading papers, examinations, projects and community service work including developing placements for students in local community agencies and/or organizations, and assigning grades in an accurate and timely manner program assessment. Many characteristics contribute to teaching effectiveness. They include, but are not limited to, the following:

• effective contribution to students' intellectual/creative development, e.g., syllabi) independent study, artistic performance, recent graduates' records of study, performance of work

activities related to the quality of teaching

command of one's subject

 knowledge of the relationship of one's discipline to the liberal arts traditions and professions

knowledge of current developments in one's discipline and pedagogy

ability to relate one's subject to other areas of knowledge

skill in communicating with students;

- ability to plan and execute a substantive, well-organized course
- ability to stimulate and broaden student interest in the subject matter
- ability to utilize effective teaching methods and strategies
- integrity, open-mindedness and objectivity in teaching
- receptivity to, and implementation of the result of constructive criticism, e.g.,
 working in the context of the program

- 3. Documentation of teaching effectiveness must include the following evidence:
 - evaluations by dean based on classroom observations
 - course syllabi
 - peer evaluations based on classroom observations
 - student evaluations

Documentation may also include, but is not limited to the following evidence:

- evidence of student work, including written work and artistic performances
- further course work or other continuing education in one's field
- participation in seminars and/or workshops on curriculum and instruction

C. Criterion 2: Professional Development and Scholarly and Creative Activity

- Professional development refers to scholarship, research, and professional or creative activities that are pursued in order to maintain a high level of competence in a faculty member's field and related fields. Full-time faculty members are expected to demonstrate ongoing intellectual knowledge of current academic developments, activities, and trends in their fields in order to sustain and enrich their teaching and to further the mission of the University through continual discovery of its educational dimensions and its relevance to their disciplines.
- 2. The University recognizes that appropriate types of professional development vary from field to field. Activities which provide the necessary academic and other professional growth and development include but are not limited to the following: conducting quality research; publishing and serving as academic reviewer of academic articles, texts, or books; performing or exhibiting creatively (in the case of the artistic fields); participating in academic presentations, seminars, panels, or dialogues; serving meaningfully in academic or scholarly ways in professional organizations or learned societies; consulting to business, education, or governmental institutions and in clinical practice, in ways directly related to faculty obligations; and carrying out the academic and professional obligations of grants, fellowships; and postdoctoral educational programs.
- The primary responsibility of a full-time faculty member is to render to the University the most effective service possible and to devote his or her full working time to the institution. At the same time, consulting and other outside activities of a professional nature are looked upon favorably and encouraged by the University where such activities give the faculty member experience and knowledge valuable to professional growth and development and do not impede the fulfillment of a full-time commitment to the University. These activities may help the faculty make worthy contributions to knowledge, or contribute to their instructional programs, or otherwise make a positive contribution to the University or the community. While faculty are encouraged to engage in such activities, these activities must be clearly subordinate to the full-time faculty's teaching, advising, research, and service responsibilities. No outside service or enterprise, professional or other, should be undertaken that might interfere with the full-time faculty member's primary responsibility to the University.
- Documentation of professional development includes, but is not limited to, the following:
 - self-report of activities, with appropriate documentation and, where not selfevident, of time spent
 - records of professional/scholarly presentations to the University community

- records of attendance at professional conferences
- records of presentations at professional conferences
- evidence of election or appointment to a scholarly or professional post
- reviews of performances/exhibitions/written work/professional products
- records of work submitted for publication or peer review
- records of publications
- records of submitted grant proposals
- records of fellowships, grants, or other recognitions
- testimony regarding the candidate's regional, national, or international reputation by professionals and colleagues outside the University
- award of fellowship, grants or other recognition
- election or appointment to a scholarly or professional post
- records of professional consulting to businesses/ agencies outside the University

D. Criterion 3: Service to the University and Campus Presence

- 1. Notre Dame de Namur University depends upon its faculty for services rendered outside the classroom. Therefore, faculty members are expected to participate in the operational concerns of the, institution. Such participation may include, but is not limited to; academic advising and mentoring; student recruitment and interaction; substitution for colleagues; faculty administration (when applicable); and civic involvement. All faculty members are expected to maintain a strong presence on campus.
- 2. Campus presence. Strong faculty presence on this campus is required. Such on-campus presence is necessary for faculty activities beyond the classroom which include but are not limited to the following: faculty administration; academic mentoring and tutoring; student recruitment and interaction; participating in general institutional functions; participating in community-based learning and leadership development activities, advising student organizations; and participating in or supporting student cultural and athletic activities.
- 3. Full-time faculty members, individually and through committees, share responsibility for the governance of the University at various levels. This responsibility shall be exercised by regularly attending and taking part in meetings of the program, department, and school, and by being available for the work and institutional committees, councils, or other working groups.
- 4. Academic Mentoring: Since a fundamental objective of private institutions of higher education like Notre Dame de Namur University is to assist students to develop their interests in order to reach their full personal and professional potential, the University emphasizes the role of its faculty in the academic advising of students. All full-time faculty members should consider the mentoring of students in academic matters an essential function of academic duties, either formally as assigned program advisors or informally in conjunction with their teaching of courses.
- 5. Student Recruitment and Interaction: Full-time faculty members shall participate in student recruitment and interaction activities in ways appropriate to their programs. Activities may include but are not limited to the following: inviting visiting students, parents, or teachers into the classroom or laboratory; organizing or attending oncampus recruitment events; phoning or visiting prospective students; moderating

student activities; tutoring students; and writing letters of recommendation or recruitment. academic unit leaders in some programs (Education, for example) interview all students who apply as stipulated by state accreditation requirements.

6. Substitution for Colleagues: No University procedures have been promulgated to determine the method for replacing faculty members or other events. Instead, as part of the teaching obligation, members of a department or program are expected to

substitute temporarily for each other when appropriate.

7. Faculty Administration (if applicable). Full-time faculty members at times also serve as Program Directors, and work with faculty, staff, and students to assure successful operations of their programs. Activities may include but are not limited to the following: increasing curriculum and teaching quality; coordinating program development; directing advising, testing, and recruitment; and fostering collegiality and

program advocacy.

8. Civic Involvement: After discharging their commitments to the University's own functions, full-time faculty members may apply their professional talents and unique capabilities in service to the community, state, or nation and the world. In doing so, however, faculty members must be clear that they do not thereby represent the University or their colleagues in these non-University activities. It is also the case that as to such non-University community involvement activities, the University does not direct the goals, manner or means of the faculty member's activities and therefore the faculty member and not the University is responsible for his/her actions.

9. Demonstration of service activities includes, but is not limited to, the following

evidence:

- self-report of activities and, where not self-evident, of time spent
- evaluation by dean or other senior administrator

evaluation by committee chairperson

letters of reference from organizations, student groups, individuals

E. Criterion 4: Engagement with the Mission of the University

- 1. Founded by the Sisters of Notre Dame de Namur, NDNU is rooted in the Catholic tradition. NDNU faculties, in their work with students, engage in supporting the mission, vision and core values of the University and the Hallmarks of a Notre Dame de Namur Learning Community. These values include learning through service and the promotion of social justice and global peace. As such the University values the application of faculty professional talents to a variety of activities which may include but are not limited to the following: acting as consultant, resource person, lecturer, and appointed or elected board member in political, religious, educational, professional, social, and charitable organizations. In addition the University values the creation, perpetuation and maintenance of Community engagement.
- 2. Demonstration of engagement with the Mission of the University includes, but is not limited to, the following evidence:

evidence of involving students in community engagement activities

- evidence of the promotion of social justice/global peace in one's curriculum/instruction or in one's scholarly, research, or creative work
- record of participation in workshops or conferences specifically related to the mission, vision, and core values and Hallmarks of Notre Dame de Namur University

- record of service on committees or task forces charged with promoting the mission, vision, core values and Hallmarks of NDNU
- self-report of activities and, where not self-evident, of time spent

• evaluation by a dean or other senior administrator

- letters of reference from organizations, student groups, individuals, non-profit organizations
- record of serving as consultant or resource person or board member in related to NDNU mission.

F. Criterion 5: Inclusive Excellence

Central to the mission of NDNU is a commitment to diversity, whether by race, ethnicity, gender, sexual orientation, social economic background, or religious affiliation. Inclusive Excellence is a way of understanding diversity as contributing both to social justice and educational outcomes. In support of this commitment to diversity, faculty are expected to be intentional in their instruction and in their interaction with students to the principles of inclusiveness, as it is only through inclusiveness that we can be excellent as an educational institution.

Commitment to inclusive excellence can be demonstrated through a variety of activities. The following list includes possible examples and illustrative only:

- a. service on the Diversity Council
- b. mentoring of diverse students and/ or faculty
- c. demonstration of inclusion of diversity-related topics in curriculum (e.g. through syllabus)
- d. service as an advisor to an ethnic student club
- e. development and/or participation in co-curricular activities around inclusive excellence
- f. demonstration of professional development activities around inclusive excellence
- g. assistance in strengthening one's department/program for cultural competence
- h. research related to inclusive excellence
- i. offering community-based learning courses in diverse settings.

II. Faculty Evaluation

A. <u>An Overview of Faculty Evaluation</u>

- 1. The University conducts both formative and summative performance evaluations of all full-time and part-time faculty members as an integral part of assessing student learning and program effectiveness. Additional evaluations of full-time faculty are performed when in connection with a candidacy for promotion or tenure. The evaluations are intended to encourage continuing achievement, growth and/or improvement of the faculty member.
- 2. Evaluations are based on the following two questions: (1) To what extent has the faculty member met or exceeded performance expectations? (2) How can the faculty member continue and/or improve her/his performance or contributions to the University and what if any University support for that effort can be offered?

3. Faculty members must be able to demonstrate that they have satisfied the performance expectations by providing persuasive evidence relevant to each obligation and criterion.

B. Evaluations of Ranked Full-Time Faculty

- 1. Full-time faculty are expected to fulfill all relevant performance obligations.
- 2. Full-time faculty are expected to demonstrate continuing achievement and growth in the Criteria for Faculty Performance.
- 3. The Committee on Rank and Tenure evaluates ranked full-time tenure track faculty members for third year tenure track review, promotion, tenure, and emeriti status. The following procedures and timeline apply:
 - a. April of each year: It is the responsibility of the Chair of the Rank and Tenure Committee, in consultation with the Office of Human Resources and the Office of the Provost, to notify in writing those faculty members who are eligible by years of service for candidacy for third year review, promotion and/or tenure of their eligibility to apply, and invite them to an information forum with members of the Rank and Tenure Committee. Applicants are provided with a checklist of items to be included in the Portfolio, and any questions candidates have may be answered at this time, although the Chair and other members of the Committee are available at any time for consultation with candidates. Exemplar portfolios are available for review by the candidates in the Provost's Office.
 - b. By April 15th of each year, faculty who intend to apply for Sabbatical leave in the Fall of the next academic year for Fall or Spring of the subsequent academic year must submit a letter of intent to the Committee.
 - c. The deadlines for submission of applications is as follows:
 - (1) Sabbatical Leave: October 1st
 - (2) Promotion, Tenure: November 1st
 - (3) Third Year Review, November 15th
 - d. Applications are processed by the Committee in the following order:
 - (1) Sabbatical leave
 - (2) Promotion from Assistant Professor to Associate Professor
 - (3) Associate Professor to Full Professor
 - (4) Tenure
 - (5) Third Year Review
 - e. The recommendations of the Rank and Tenure Committee are forwarded to the Provost according to the timelines outlined in the following sections.

Faculty Advancement

C. <u>An Overview of Faculty Advancement</u>

1. Notre Dame de Namur University offers its faculty a variety of advancement processes. Ranked full time faculty members who demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Committee, the Provost and the President, in their judgment, the necessary levels of achievement and growth in the areas of important faculty performance, may be eligible for promotion and/or granting of tenure. Ranked part-time librarian faculty members who similarly demonstrate a continuing high level of achievement and growth progress may be eligible for promotion. For newer full-time faculty, a third year tenure, track review is conducted to assess faculty performance and input or feedback will be provided to the faculty member who later will be a candidate for future promotion and tenure.

Full-time faculty who have provided distinguished service to the University are eligible for consideration for merit appointments as Professor Emeriti after 10 years.

- 2. Evaluations are based on the following two questions: (1) To what extent has the faculty member met or exceeded performance expectations? (2) How can the faculty member continue and/or improve her/his performance or contributions to the University and what if any University support for that effort can be offered?
- 3. The candidate faculty member must be able to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Committees, the Provost and the President, that in their respective judgments, the faculty member has met or exceeded the applicable performance expectations relevant to each obligation and criterion. The Committee on Rank and Tenure considers all requests for promotion, tenure, and merit appointment. Decisions on advancement are determined by the President after consideration of the recommendations of the Committee and of the Provost.
- 4. Based on documentation regarding length of service provided by the Human Resources Office to the Rank and Tenure Committee, faculty members who will be eligible for consideration for promotion will be notified by a letter from the Chair of the Rank and Tenure Committee by April 1 of the year preceding the evaluation process.

D. <u>Promotion of Ranked Full-Time. Tenure Track Faculty</u>

Promotion is not to be considered a right occurring automatically, but is based on merit. Routine performance, academic degrees, and length of service are not in themselves grounds for advancement in rank. Otherwise eligible full-time faculty who have demonstrated to the satisfaction of the peer committees a continuing high level of achievement and growth in the areas of important faculty performance, may be candidates for promotion in accordance with the following policies and procedures:

1. <u>Promotion: Degree and Time Requirements</u>

- a. Faculty performance prior to coming to the University is the basis for decision to offer initial appointment; that performed subsequent to appointment at the University is the basis for evaluation for initial promotion. Performance subsequent to a previous promotion at the University is the basis for evaluation for the next promotion. A minimum of one year's work at the University must be completed before the faculty member will be eligible to apply for promotion. Faculty hired beginning in January of a given academic year, will be eligible for the first evaluation after a period of a year and eight months (fall semester in the second academic year after hire).
- b. Faculty applicants for promotion must possess a doctorate or terminal degree from a recognized institution. The following degree and time requirements must be confirmed as accurate for candidacy for a promotion.
- (1) An Assistant Professor who possesses a doctorate or terminal degree from a recognized institution and who has completed four years of college teaching as Assistant Professor at the University (or the equivalent as determined in written notification by the appropriate School Dean at the time of hire, upon criteria set by the Committee on Rank and Tenure) may apply during the fifth year for promotion to Associate Professor. If granted, the promotion will become effective at the conclusion of the fifth year as Assistant Professor. Promotion to Associate Professor does not confer tenure.
- (2) An Associate Professor who possesses a doctorate or terminal degree from a recognized institution and who has completed four years of college teaching as Associate Professor at the University (or the equivalent as determined in written notification by the appropriate School Dean at the time of hire, upon criteria set by the Committee on Rank and Tenure) may apply during the fifth year for promotion to Professor. If granted, the promotion will become effective at the conclusion of the fifth year as Associate Professor. Promotion to Professor does not confer tenure.
- (3) An Assistant Librarian (full-time) who possesses a master's degree in Library Science or Library and Information Science from a library school accredited by the American Library Association and who has completed four years fultime professional library experience as Assistant Librarian at the University (or the equivalent as determined in written notification by the Provost) may apply during the fifth year for promotion to Associate Librarian (full-time). If granted, the promotion will become effective at the (conclusion of the fifth year as Assistant Librarian (full-time). Promotion to Associate Librarian does not confer tenure.

2. <u>Promotion: Performance Requirements</u>

a. An Assistant Professor applying for promotion to Associate Professor must demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Committee, Provost and President, that

their respective judgments, she/he has continuously served and will continue to serve as a successful teacher; conduct productive scholarship, research, or creative activities; promote community based learning and leadership opportunities for students; perform effectively as an Program Director (if applicable); show strong faculty presence on campus; contribute service to the University in at least one of the following areas: academic advising and mentoring student recruitment and interaction, substitution for colleagues, service learning, or community involvement; and generally demonstrate engagement with the Mission and educational visions of the University.

Ь. An Associate Professor applying for promotion to Professor must demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Committee, Provost and President that in their respective judgments, she/he has continuously served and will continue to serve as an outstanding teacher; conduct productive scholarship, research, or creative activities; promote community based learning and leadership opportunities for students, perform effectively as an Program Director (if applicable); show strong faculty presence on campus; and contribute service to the University in at least one of the following areas: academic mentoring, sent recruitment and interaction, substitution for colleagues, or community involvement, and generally demonstrate engagement with the Mission and educational visions of the University.

An Assistant Librarian (full-time) applying for promotion to Associate C. Librarian (full-time) must demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Committee, Provost and President that in their respective judgments, she/he has continuously served and will continue to serve with outstanding professional competence in the important areas of academic assignment (reference, technical services, or collection management), as well as in service. Service may

be evaluated in the context of the University and the profession.

3. Promotion: Preparation of Faculty Portfolio

- The candidate will prepare a faculty portfolio that will comprehensively and a. accurately document the candidate's performance over the years of evaluation and will show the nature of continuing achievement and growth. The evaluation file may ultimately include materials submitted not only by the candidate but also by peers, external commentators, university committees. Program Directors and senior administrators.
- Ъ. The candidate will include the following materials in the portfolio:
 - A narrative in which the faculty member addresses both past academic work inclusive of achievements and future intended areas of growth, making reference to the general Criteria for Faculty Performance and to the specific Performance Requirements for the position. The candidate may include materials in any scholarly format which provides evidence in a clear and coherent fashion suitable to professional examination and relevant to the criteria:

(a) Teaching Effectiveness

(b) Professional Development and Scholarly and Creative Activity

- (c) Service to the University and Campus Presence
- (d) Engagement with the Mission of the University
- (e) Inclusive Excellence
- (2) A current curriculum vitae.
- (3) All syllabi for courses taught in the previous two years.
- (4) End of semester student evaluations since the last appointment/promotion.
- (5) A copy of the letter of evaluation from the candidate's Dean's office, directed and forwarded in the original to the Chair of Rank and Tenure, evaluating the individual's satisfaction of the Criteria for Faculty Performance, as made by means of class visitations, collegial discussions, consultations with peers, reviews of student evaluations and/or similar methods of evaluation. The letter should also assess the candidate's fulfillment of contractual obligations detailed under Faculty Workload and Expectations, including evidence of commitment to the Mission and visions of the institution.
- (6) A letter of endorsement from one or more faculty peers chosen by the candidate, evaluating the individual's satisfaction of the Criteria for Faculty Performance, as made by means of class visitations, collegial discussions, and/or similar methods of evaluation.
- c. By November 1st preceding the fiscal year for which the candidate wants the advancement to become effective, he or she will deliver one copy of the faculty portfolio to the Chair of the Committee on Rank and Tenure.
- d. By November 15, the Chair of the Committee on Rank and Tenure will notify the President, the Provost, the School Dean, and other relevant senior administrators of the names of faculty members who have submitted faculty portfolios. Senior administrators and Deans will be given the opportunity to submit additional letters or materials to the Chair of the Committee on Rank and Tenure. If the Chair receives any such letter or material, the Chair will immediately forward a copy to the candidate. The candidate may then submit a response, which must reach the Chair of the Committee on Rank and Tenure within 15 days after receipt or longer period as authorized by the Chair for good cause. The faculty member may also invite his or her School Dean to visit a class and submit a letter of evaluation on his or her behalf.
- 4. Promotion: Peer Review by the Committee on Bank and Tenure
 - a. The Committee on Rank and Tenure will review the faculty portfolio.
 - b. If a member of the Committee on Rank and Tenure has written a letter as an Program Director or faculty peer to be included in a candidate's faculty portfolio, that member vote shall, with regard to the candidate's application recuse from deliberations.

- c. The Committee on Rank and Tenure will decide whether or not to recommend advancement. Majority vote is used in decision making; a tie vote results in an absence of recommendation either for or against the candidacy. Senior Administrators and Deans do not participate in deliberation regarding faculty advancement at meetings of the Committee on Rank and Tenure.
- d. The Committee will send recommendations for advancement to the Provost, who will evaluate, comment and forward the Provost's recommendation to the President by February 1, along with the supporting faculty portfolio documentation and the Committee's recommendation and report, if any. If the Provost finds reason for not advancing the Committee's recommendation to the President, prior to transmittal to the President, the Provost will so inform the Committee and provide an opportunity to submit further information or comment in writing prior to the Provost's transmittal to the President.
- e. A candidate who is not recommended for advancement by the Committee on Rank and Tenure will be notified within ten working days following the decision to not recommend. Such a decision shall be in writing and shall include the reasons for the decision. The faculty member may then request a further explanation or a hearing before the Committee on Rank and Tenure. If the faculty member is not satisfied, within a period of ten days (10) he or she may appeal the decision of the Committee not to recommend advancement through the appeal process of the CBA.

5. Promotion: Administrative Review by the President

- a. The President will review the Provost's recommendation by February 1, along with the supporting faculty portfolio documentation and the Committee's recommendation and report, if any. The President may further consult with the Provost, the appropriate School Dean, and in making his determination. The President will decide whether or not to grant advancement.
- b. The President will report his decision regarding the advancement of faculty members to the Board of Trustees.
- c. Faculty members who have been granted advancement will be notified in writing by the President by the appointment issuance deadline of May 31. The President will also notify the Chair of the Committee on Rank and Tenure of the final decisions regarding all recommendations which were made by the Committee. Advancement will be effective the following fiscal year.
- d. A candidate who is denied advancement by the President will be notified within ten working days following the decision. Such a decision shall be in writing and shall include the reasons for the decision. The faculty member may then request a further explanation or a hearing before the President. If the faculty member is not satisfied, within a period of ten days he or she may file a grievance (CBA).

E. Promotion of Ranked Part-Time Librarian Faculty

Policies and procedures for promotion from the rank of Assistant Librarian (part-time) to Associate Librarian (part-time) are identical with those for promotion from the rank of Assistant Librarian (full-time) to Associate Librarian (full-time).

1. Tenure: Degree and Time Requirements

- a. The probationary period for candidacy for appointment for tenure begins with appointment to the rank of Assistant Professor or higher and should not ordinarily exceed six years of ranked full-time college teaching or librarianship, the last four years of which must be completed at Notre Dame de Namur University. [A tenured appointment may not be acquired on the basis of length of service with the University.] Assistant Professors are not eligible for tenure. If, on the basis of a favorable outcome of the Third Year Review process and evidence that they have fulfilled all criteria for advancement. They may be promoted to a higher rank at the end of the required years of service in that rank. However, the outcome of a Third Year Review shall not predetermine the Committee on Rank and Tenure in its later evaluation of the candidate for subsequent candidacy for promotion or of tenure. If not promoted to a higher rank at the end of required years of service in those ranks, the faculty member is entitled to no further tenure-track contract beyond that of a terminal appointment for the following year.
- b. Tenure may not be granted to a faculty member who has not achieved the rank of Associate I, Professor or Associate Librarian and has not achieved completion of six years of ranked full-time college teaching or librarianship in one or more recognized institutions. However, the last four of those six years must have been in the employ of Notre Dame de Namur University as a ranked full-time tenure track faculty member. If granted, tenure will become effective after completing the sixth year of full-time service. Promotion to Associate Professor or Associate Librarian or Librarian does not confer tenure.
- c. Time on approved sabbatical leave will count as part of the time required for eligibility toward the granting of tenure, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the faculty member and the Provost. Time on an approved academic leave of absence of not more than one year may count as part of the time required for eligibility toward the granting of tenure if agreed in writing by the faculty member and the Provost.
- d. A request for an extension of the probationary period of one to two years may be presented in a timely manner to the Provost for exceptional circumstances such as extended personal medical disability, other qualifying conditions under the Family and Medical Leave Act, or assignment to a non-teaching role. As soon as it becomes apparent to a faculty member that he or she will need to request such an extension, the request must be made in the form of a letter to the Provost, with a copy to the Committee on Rank and Tenure, explaining the rationale and length of time required for the extension and shall include relevant physician or health care professional's letter of opinion. The faculty member shall not include any confidential medical information in the copy of the letter to the Committee. The request will be considered and acted

upon by the Provost, after conferral with the Committee. The faculty member requesting the extension will be notified by letter within ten days (10) following the date of the Provost's decision. The letter will specify the terms and conditions for the extension, if any.

- e. In cases in which tenure is not granted or in which annual contract on the basis of moratorium is not offered, the faculty member will be eligible for a terminal year of employment.
- f. Except under extraordinary circumstances to be determined and defined in writing by the University at the time of the hiring of a new full-time faculty member, advancement to the rank of Professor will not precede granting of tenure.

2. Tenure: Performance Requirements

Eligibility for an appointment to tenure requires review by the levels of Committees, Provost and the President and the academic judgment by the President that he/she has continuously served and will continue to serve as among the most outstanding of University teachers; among the most productive University faculty members in scholarship, research, or creative activities; effectively and fully promotes community based learning and leadership opportunities for students, perform effectively as a Program Director (if applicable); show strong faculty presence on campus; and contribute service to the University in at least one of the following areas: academic mentoring, student recruitment and interaction, substitution for colleagues, or community involvement, and generally demonstrate engagement with the Mission and educational visions of the University.

The candidate must provide persuasive evidence of significant involvement in the life of the University "beyond the classroom." The faculty member must also demonstrate ongoing intellectual responsibility toward current trends, activities, and developments in his or her field of specialization. Finally, the candidate must demonstrate a commitment to the University's Mission and vision statements.

3. Tenure: Preparation of Faculty Portfolio

a. By April 1 of a full-time tenure track faculty member's fifth year of service with the University that counts toward eligibility for review for tenure at the University, the Committee on Rank and Tenure will notify each faculty member who is eligible to be considered for tenure based on evidence supplied by the Human Resources Office in the form of the initial placement at time of hire and/or the contract letter signed by the individual faculty member and the Provost at the time of the appointment to the tenure track position. The candidate will prepare a faculty portfolio that will comprehensively and accurately document the candidate's performance over the years of evaluation and will show the nature of continuing achievement and growth. The evaluation file may ultimately include materials submitted not only by the candidate but also by peers, external commentators, University committees, Program Directors, and senior administrators.

- b. The candidate will include in the portfolio the same categories of materials required for promotion applications. In addition, the candidate for tenure will also include the following materials in the portfolio:
 - (1) Letters from students, faculty, and staff members describing the candidate's involvement in the life of the University beyond the classroom.
 - (2) Examples by the candidate of ways in which the faculty member has demonstrated past, ongoing and expected future intellectual responsibility toward current trends, activities, and developments in his or her field of specialization.
 - (3) A statement by the candidate of ways in which the faculty member has incorporated the University's Mission and vision statements into his or her professional life both through service and in the classroom.
- c. By November 1 of the sixth year, the candidate will either deliver one copy of the faculty portfolio to the Chair of the Committee on Rank and Tenure or else request an extension by the Provost, in a letter to the Provost, with a copy to the Committee on Rank and Tenure, in a petition explaining the reason for the request and the length of time requested.
- d. By November 5, the Chair of the Committee on Rank and Tenure will notify the President, the Provost, the appropriate School Dean, of the names of faculty members who have submitted faculty portfolios. Senior administrators and Deans will be given the opportunity to submit additional letters or materials to the Chair of the Committee on Rank and Tenure. If the Chair receives any such letter or material, the Chair will immediately forward a copy to the candidate. The candidate may then submit a response, which must reach the Chair of the Committee on Rank and Tenure within 15 days after receipt or longer period as authorized by the Chair for good cause.
- e. The appropriate Dean is invited by the candidate to make a classroom visit and submit a letter of evaluation to the Committee on Rank and Tenure.

4. Tenure: Peer Review by the Committee on Rank and Tenure

Policies and procedures for tenure are identical with those for promotion, except that the Committee will send recommendations for advancement to the Provost by March 1.

F. Third Year Tenure Track Review of Ranked Full-Time Faculty

To help facilitate a faculty member's performance of her/his faculty duties, either the Dean and/or the Committee on Rank and Tenure, conducts a third year tenure track review. Its purpose is to give timely feedback and guidance to the individual faculty member, which the faculty member may choose to use to orient subsequent performance in a manner which may enhance her/his candidacy for promotion or tenure. Review takes place early in the third year of employment for all ranked full-time faculty members, with the exception of those applying for promotion during the third year and those

MA

who have previously been promoted after beginning full-time teaching at the University. Full-time faculty who have not tendered resignation from the University are required to apply for third year tenure track review in accordance with the following policies and procedures.

1. Third Year Tenure Track Review: Degree and Time Requirements

A ranked full-time faculty member who has completed two years of teaching at Notre Dame de Namur University, upon notification by the Committee on Rank and Tenure by April 1 of his or her second year of employment at the University, must apply for third year tenure track review during the third year. Determination of the faculty member's status within the tenure track is based on the date of hire supplied the Committee by the Human Resources Office.

2. Third Year Tenure Track Review Performance Requirements

A faculty member applying for third year tenure track review must meet the criteria for the rank at which he or she is currently teaching.

3. Third Year Tenure Track Review Preparation of Faculty Portfolio

- a. The Committee on Rank and Tenure will notify each faculty member who is subject to a third year tenure track review by April 1 of his or her second year of employment at the University. The candidate is then required to prepare a faculty portfolio that will document the candidate's continuing achievement and growth. The portfolio may ultimately include materials submitted not only by the candidate but also by Program Chair and senior administrators.
- b. The candidate will include in the portfolio the same materials required for promotion applications.
- c. By November 1, the evaluator will review the faculty portfolio with the candidate. By November 15, the evaluator will then forward the faculty portfolio to the Chair of the Committee on Rank and Tenure.
- d. By November 15, the Chair of the Committee on Rank and Tenure will notify the Provost, the School Dean, Department Chair, and Program Director (if appropriate) of the names of faculty members who have submitted faculty portfolios. Senior administrators and Deans will be given the opportunity to submit additional letters or materials to the Committee on Rank and Tenure. Such letters or materials must reach the Chair of the Committee on Rank and Tenure by November 15. If the Chair receives any such letter or material, the Chair will immediately forward a copy to the candidate. The candidate may then submit a response, which must reach the Chair of the Committee on Rank and Tenure by December 1.
- e. The School Dean may also be requested by the candidate to make a classroom visit and write a letter of evaluation.

4. Third Year Tenure Track Review: Peer Review by the Committee on Rank and Tenure

- a. The Committee on Rank and Tenure will review the faculty portfolio. The Committee will also examine the candidate's faculty personnel file in the Human Resources Office.
- b. If a member of the Committee on Rank and Tenure has written a letter as a Program or faculty peer to be included in a candidate's faculty portfolio, that member shall not participate in the Committee on Rank and Tenure's discussions or decisions with regard to the candidate's application.
- c. The Committee on Rank and Tenure will submit its evaluation of the candidate's portfolio directly to the individual under review. It will take note of those criteria for advancement which are strong and will identify those areas which are marginal or weak. A copy of the recommendations will also be sent to the Provost, the School Dean, the Department Chair or Program Director (if appropriate), and to the Office of Human Resources to be placed into the faculty member's faculty personnel file.
- d. The Department Chair and/or Program Director, as appropriate, will meet with and counsel the faculty member, review the recommendations of the Committee on Rank and Tenure concerning present and future performance and develop a specific timeline and strategy for addressing continued development in areas of strength and improvements in areas that could be improved.
- e. After meeting with Department Chair or Program Director, the faculty member may respond in writing to the Committee on Rank and Tenure. The candidate's response will be incorporated into the faculty portfolio, which will be retained in the Provost's Office. A copy of the response will also be sent to the office of the appropriate Dean to be placed into the faculty member's faculty personnel file in the Human Resources Office.

5. Third Year Tenure Track Review: Administrative Review

The President does not ordinarily receive the contents of any report of the Committee of the third year tenure track review of a full-time tenure track faculty member, but is apprised in writing of the results of the review. Upon request of the President, the Committee will forward to the Provost its file and any report.

G. Appointment of Full-Time Faculty as Professor Emeritus/Emerita

The rank of Professor Emeritus or Professor Emerita may be assigned to Associate Professors or Professors who have terminated their responsibilities as ranked faculty members for valid reasons (e.g., retirement, illness) after ten or more years of distinguished service to the University. Under exceptional circumstances, long-standing Assistant Professors may also be assigned the rank of Professor Emeritus or Emerita. Full-time faculty who have demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Provost continuing achievement and growth are eligible for merit appointment as Professor Emeritus or Professor Emerita in accordance with the following policies and procedures.

1. <u>Professor Emeritus/Emerita: Degree and Time Requirements</u>

A ranked full-time faculty member who has completed ten or more years of teaching at Notre Dame de Namur and who has terminated his or her responsibilities as a full-time ranked faculty member may be considered for emerita/emeritus status. Faculty on early retirement are not eligible for emeriti status until they have completed their early retirement.

2. <u>Professor Emeritus/Emerita: Performance Requirements</u>

The nomination of a retiring member of the faculty to Emeritus/Emerita status must be submitted in the form of a letter from the faculty member's Program Director. If the faculty member is an Program Director, the letter must come from the School Dean as appropriate. If the faculty member is a Dean, the letter may be submitted from a member of the faculty or administration as deemed appropriate by the Provost.

3. Professor Emeritus/Emerita, Peer Review by the Committee on Rank and Tenure

- a. At its December meeting, the Chair of the Committee on Rank and Tenure will present the Committee with a list of faculty eligible to be considered for emeriti status effective the end of the spring semester. The Human Resources Office will confirm that those listed have completed ten or more years of teaching at Notre Dame de Namur University and have or will have terminated their responsibilities as full-time ranked faculty members.
- b. The Committee will decide whether or not to recommend emerita/emeritus status. Majority vote is used in decision making; a tie vote results in no recommendation.
- c. By January 15, the Committee will send recommendations to the Provost, who will forward them to the President.

4. Professor Emeritus/Emerita: Decision by the President

- a. The Provost will recommend and the President will decide whether or not to grant emeriti status.
- b. By February 1, the President will send notice of his decision to the Board of Trustees.

APPENDIX G – FACULTY DEVELOPMENT, LEAVES, AND BENEFITS POLICIES

I. Faculty Development

A. Sabbatical Leave

- 1. A sabbatical leave should not be considered a right of a faculty member but is accorded to qualified members of the faculty to help them improve their academic contribution to the University through study, research, travel, writing, or creative activity. When applying, faculty are asked to take care that the objectives of the sabbatical are clearly specified and that goals are set that have a reasonable expectation of being completed. Financial support is awarded on the basis of merit, and the obligation of faculty members to their projects is not completed until an account is given after the sabbatical is over and faculty members have resumed teaching duties.
- 2. Sabbatical leave with full pay for one semester, or half pay for one academic year, may be granted to any faculty member with the rank of assistant professor or higher who has served at least six academic years full-time with the University, and who has not been granted a sabbatical leave in the previous six academic years. Additional sabbatical leaves may be granted whenever the faculty member completes another six-year service cycle.
- 3. Senior Lecturers may apply for paid sabbatical leaves, following fourteen years' service to the University. Compensation is based upon a six-unit semester salary. Only one such leave will be granted to a senior lecturer in any given semester. All other sabbatical leave policies apply.
- 4. For purposes of long-range planning, a faculty member considering sabbatical leave must file a preliminary notice of intent to apply for sabbatical leave with the Committee on Rank and Tenure and with his or her Dean by April 15 of the academic year proceeding the year in which formal application will be completed. This notice of intent needs to be in writing.
- 5. Formal application for sabbatical leave will be made in the form of a proposal to the Committee on Rank and Tenure with the written approval of the applicant's Dean, by October 1 of the preceding academic year. This proposal should contain an outline of the proposed activity and its timeline, a statement as to its value to the University and an appraisal of its professional enrichment to the faculty member. The proposal must state how faculty replacements are planned. If possible, courses should be cycled so that substitute faculty is not needed. Candidates should notify the School Dean of their application for sabbatical.
- 6. In any given semester, sabbatical leave will be granted to not more than five (5) percent of the total full-time active teaching faculty or eligible senior lecturers. In making this calculation, faculty currently on phased early

59 N

retirement and leave of absence are counted as full-time faculty. The maximum number of such leaves per year will be determined by Provost. If the number of faculty requesting leaves exceeds the maximum number which can be granted, the order of selection will be determined by the following:

 Chair of Rank and Tenure is advised in writing of applicant's intent to apply by April 15 of the academic year in which application is intended.

• Completed application is submitted by the posted deadline.

 Degree to which the application meets the criteria outlined in the Faculty Handbook Part V. I. A. 5. and criteria shared with potential applicants at Spring workshop.
 Not more than one sabbatical leave will be granted at any one time in the same department.

7. Application is made in current year of eligibility unless applicant is asked to apply in another year due to department or University concerns or documentation of personal need. If sabbatical is deferred for other than department, University, or personal need, the applicant must request permission from the Provost's office and obtain written approval from that office. A sabbatical may only be deferred for a maximum of two academic years from the applicant's actual date of eligibility. If an applicant chooses to defer his/her sabbatical from the year in which s/he is eligible for other than University or departmental need, s/he will not be accorded special consideration in the selection process for the year that s/he applies. (See Part V.I.A.2. for clarification of sabbatical cycling.)

Except for the conditions detailed in Part V. I. A .6., faculty members who defer taking their sabbatical such that they do not complete it within two-years of eligibility, shall forfeit their opportunity and cannot re-apply until they have complete a second six-year period.

In the event a faculty member, due to either university policy, (e.g. no more that 5% of total full-time teaching faculty or eligible lectures), or departmental need, is not approved for sabbatical for two consecutive years, the two-year forfeiture limitation will not apply.

8. A sabbatical leave will be granted only with the written understanding that the faculty member, following the leave, will continue service at the University. Faculty members accepting a sabbatical leave are expected to repay the University in full if they do not remain at the University for two academic years after their sabbatical. Exceptions to this rule may be made at the discretion of the President.

- 9. Normal raises and benefits will remain in effect during sabbatical leave and the sabbatical year will count in the tally of years of service to the University for advancement in rank, salary, and tenure. The University, during this interval, will continue its contribution toward the faculty member's health insurance and retirement fund if he or she subscribes to either or both.
- 10. The Committee on Rank and Tenure will send recommendations for sabbatical leave to the Provost by December 1, along with the supporting faculty applications. Faculty members who have been granted sabbatical leave will be notified in writing by the President by February 15. The President's decision on the granting or denial of sabbatical leave will be final.
- 11. A faculty member who is not recommended for sabbatical leave by the Committee on Rank and Tenure or is not granted leave by the President will be notified within ten (10) working days following the decision to not recommend or not grant. Such a decision shall be in writing and shall include the reasons for the decision.
- It is imperative that the faculty member advise the Rank and Tenure Committee of any alternations to the proposed project, as soon as possible.
- 13. The faculty member granted sabbatical leave will make to the Committee on Rank and Tenure, President, the Provost and the School Dean, a written report accounting for his or her sabbatical activity within ninety (90) days of resumption of teaching responsibilities.

Rank and Tenure's approval of this account will constitute the University's confirmation that the intent and/or spirit of the sabbatical was in fact met. Disapproval (e.g., because the faculty member failed to do the work) may result in Rank and Tenure sending a recommendation to the President that the financial support granted the faculty member will be returned, in part or in full, to the University.

B. Release Time

The University allocates release time for full-time faculty and senior lecturers for scholarly and creative research, in accordance with the following policies and procedures:

1. Eligibility for release time

The University allots a total of nine (9) units of release time per year, including summer sessions, for full-time faculty research.

a. Release time is recommended by Faculty Development Committee and decided by Provost. All full-time faculty and senior lecturers are eligible to submit proposals for release time. There is no restriction on the number of times a faculty member may apply, but priority is given to those who have not previously received release time.

b. Additional units of release time for specific purposes beneficial to the University may be awarded by the President, following policies and procedures developed by the Provost.

2. Criteria for release time

A proposal for a release time project is evaluated on the integrity, depth, and quality of the scholarly or creative activity. Specific criteria to be evaluated include:

- a. Activities and methodology.
- b. Purpose and value for the faculty member and the University.
- c. Estimated timetable for conducting and completing activities.
- d. Audience for whom the results might be published or presented.

3. Application process for release time

Formal application for release time will be made to the Committee on Faculty Development by November 1 for the following academic year, using a standard form supplied by the Committee. The application will include the signatures of the faculty member's Department Chair or Program Director (to acknowledge scheduling changes that will need to occur if the application is approved). The application will also include attached letters of recommendation from an NDNU colleague, a publisher, a collaborator, or other non-University colleague, as appropriate.

4. Awarding of release time

The Faculty Development Committee will evaluate in writing and recommend to the Provost, release time on a competitive basis. Faculty members who have been awarded release time will be notified in writing by the Provost by December 31. A faculty member who is not awarded release time will be notified within ten (10) working days following the decision not to award. Such a decision shall be in writing and shall include the reasons for the decision.

5. Reporting results of release time project

The faculty member awarded release time will make to the Faculty Development Committee, the President, the Provost, and the School Dean a written report of the results of his or her release time project within ninety (90) days of resumption of full-time teaching responsibilities following the release time semester.

C. Research Grant

The University allots funds for faculty for scholarly and creative research, in accordance with the following policies and procedures:

1. Criteria for research grant

A proposal for a research grant project is evaluated on the integrity, depth, and quality of the scholarly or creative activity. Specific criteria to be evaluated include:

a. Activities and methodology.

Purpose and value for the faculty member and the b. University.

Estimated timetable for conducting and completing c. activities.

ď. Audience for whom the results might be published or presented.

2. Application process for research grant

Formal application for a research grant will be made to the Faculty Development Committee by November 1 for the following spring or by March 1 for the following summer or fall, using a standard form supplied by the Committee. The application will include an itemized budget of expenses which need to be met from this grant, plus any other sources.

3. Awarding of research grant

The Faculty Development Committee will in writing evaluate and recommend to the Provost research grants on a competitive basis. Faculty members who have been awarded research grants will be notified in writing by the Provost by December 15 for the following spring or by April 15 for the following summer or fall. Payments of grants will be authorized by the Provost by December 30 for the following spring or by April 30 for the following summer or fall. A faculty member who is not awarded a research grant will be notified within ten working days following the decision not to award. Such a decision shall be in writing and shall include the reasons for the decision.

Reporting results of research grant project 4.

The faculty member awarded a research grant will make to the Faculty Development Committee, the President, the Provost and the School Dean a written report of the results of his or her research grant project within ninety (90) days of resumption of teaching responsibilities following the research grant semester.

D. Travel grant

In order to encourage faculty members to attend professional conferences and meetings, the University allots funds for faculty travel for scholarly and creative purposes in accordance with the following policies and procedures:

1. Eligibility for travel grant

The University allots a total equal to \$300 (\$800 if faculty member presents) per full-time faculty member per fiscal year, including summer sessions, for travel grants. At the discretion of the faculty member's School Dean, requests may be made for reimbursement of travel expenditures of Senior Lecturers or Part-time faculty, provided the total amount of travel monies requested does not exceed the amount allocated to that Department.

2. <u>Criteria for travel grant</u>

A request for a travel grant is evaluated on the integrity, depth, and quality of the scholarly or creative activity. Grants may be used to reimburse costs for transportation, housing, meals, and registration for professional conferences or meetings. It is presumed that such meetings will not interfere with the academic duties of faculty members.

3. Application process for travel grant

Formal request for a travel grant is made to the faculty member's School Dean, using a standard travel requisition and expense voucher form supplied by the University's Business Office. The request must include the original, appropriate receipts for the sum requested, unless the receipts have been previously submitted.

E. George M. Keller Teaching Excellence Award

- 1. The Notre Dame de Namur University award for teaching excellence honors George M. Keller, Governance Board Chairman from 1982-1994. The George M. Keller Teaching Excellence Award, established in 1995, seeks to recognize excellence in teaching by full-time faculty at NDNU. The selection process includes student nomination letters, with attention given to a faculty member's teaching contribution, ability to motivate students, leadership in teaching, success as an academic advisor and other outstanding contributions to the learning process at NDNU.
- 2. Faculty are nominated by students. Ballots are distributed by the Provost's Office at key posts throughout campus, the week following Spring Break. At the end of this week, the Provost's Office will collect the ballots and forward them to a Selection Committee comprised of faculty, students, and alumni.

4 W

3. The Recipient will be inducted into the Keller Scholar Group and receive a grant of \$4000, an attractive wooden plaque to display in his or her office, and their name engraved alongside past recipients on a plaque showcased in the Keller Conference Room. The awardee's name is traditionally announced at the May commencement ceremony, at which time the check and plaque are presented.

Purpose and Procedures Of The Sister Catharine Julie Cunningham Chair For Visiting F. Scholars

Purpose: The Sister Catharine Julie Cunningham Chair was established in 1980 to honor Sr. Catharine Julie upon her retirement from the Office of President of the University (then, College of Notre Dame). It provides a capital investment yielding approximately \$75,000.00, under current market conditions. These funds are used to bring distinguished visiting faculty to the campus, thereby increasing the institution's visibility and prestige in the community and encouraging mutually beneficial academic and cultural activities.

Normally, the visiting scholar teaches a course at either the upper-division or graduate level. He or she is also expected to give a public lecture or other event (such as a workshop) which is open to members of the local community.

The fund has two components:

- (1) Two-thirds is designated to cover costs of two visiting scholar programs each academic year. These costs include the scholar's salary, the release time salary of a co-professor, and other expenses;
- (2) One-third of the funds is distributed at the discretion of the President for a variety of purposes beneficial to the institution, including funding of other visiting faculty and guest lecturers, or of other events that enhance the goals and programs of the University.

Rotation Among Schools:

The Sister Catharine Julie Cunningham Visiting Scholar Chair will be rotated among Notre Dame de Namur University's four Schools, beginning in the following manner:

Fall 2002 or summer Session II 2002:

School of Sciences

Spring 2003 or Summer Session I 2003: Fall 2003 or Summer Session II 2003:

School of Education and Leadership

School of Business and Management

Spring 2004 or Summer Session I 2004: School of Arts and Humanities

If a school does not indicate an intent to host a visiting scholar during a given semester, other schools may make requests to host visiting scholars in their programs during that semester.

G. Sister Catharine Julie Cunningham Memorial Teaching Project Award

Each year the University awards \$1000 to a faculty member in order to enhance and honor the teaching/learning experience at the University, to honor excellence in teaching, and to encourage new and creative ways of achieving excellence in teaching, in accordance with the following policies and procedures:

1. Eligibility for teaching project award

The University allots \$1000 for the teaching project award plus additional funding to purchase an award plaque. All faculty with two years of teaching experience at Notre Dame de Namur University are eligible to submit a proposal for the teaching project award. There is no restriction on the number of times a faculty member may apply, but priority is given to those who have not previously received a teaching project award.

2. Criteria for teaching project award

A proposal for a teaching project award project is evaluated on the integrity, depth, and quality of the teaching activity. The guidelines for teaching projects are broad in order to encourage new and creative ways of achieving excellence in teaching. Projects meriting the award might include developing new courses, using outside resources, setting up colloquia which bring faculty and students together, or creating field-work programs. A project may not involve the University in any cost beyond that of the award itself. Specific criteria to be evaluated include:

- Activities and methodology. a.
- Purpose and value for the faculty member and the University. b.
- Estimated timetable for conducting and completing activities. c.
- d. Audience for whom the results might be published or presented.

3. Application process for teaching project award

Formal application for a teaching project award will be made to the Committee on Faculty Development by March 1 for the following academic year, using a standard form supplied by the Committee. The application will include an itemized budget of expenses which need to be met from this award plus any other sources.

4. Awarding of teaching project award

The Committee on Faculty Development will evaluate and recommend the teaching project award on a competitive basis. A faculty member who has been awarded a teaching project award will be notified in writing by the Committee on Faculty Development by April 15. An award plaque will be presented to the recipient of a teaching project award at the May Commencement ceremony.

Reporting results of teaching project award project 5.

The faculty member awarded a teaching project award will make to the Committee on Faculty Development, the Provost, and the President a written report of the results of his or her teaching project within ninety days of resumption of teaching responsibilities following the teaching project award semester.

II. **Faculty Leaves**

Leaves with Pay A.

1. **Holidays**

The University observes the following holidays. When one of these holidays falls on a Saturday, the Friday before will be observed; if one falls on a Sunday, the following Monday will be observed. If two holidays fall on the same weekend, only one day will be observed (Friday or Monday):

- New Year's Day. a.
- Ь. Martin Luther King's Birthday.
- c. President's Day.
- d. Good Friday.
- Memorial Day. e.
- f. Independence Day.
- Labor Day.
- g. h. [Fall Midterm Holiday for students].
- i. Thanksgiving Day.
- j. Day after Thanksgiving.
- k. Day before Christmas.
- 1, Christmas Day.
- Day after Christmas. m.
- New Year's Eve. n.
- Any other day declared by the President as a holiday. o.

2. Vacation Leave

Full-time faculty hired on twelve-month contracts have the same rights and responsibilities as other exempt employees with regard to vacation leave. Twelve-month academic unit leaders are entitled to twenty days annual vacation during the first three years of employment. After the third anniversary date of hire, they are entitled to twenty- five days annual vacation. Vacation time does not accrue beyond the following June 30; the maximum number of vacation days that can be accrued is the number earned in one fiscal year. Effective July, 2000, all exempt employees (including faculty) hired after July 1, 2000, will accrue vacation at the rate of fifteen (15) days per year (1.67 days per month), and the maximum accrual will be 30 days (or 240 hours). The scheduling of vacation time must be based on the needs of the University. All vacation requests must be approved in advance by the appropriate academic unit leader or senior administrator. Each faculty member must give the appropriate academic unit leader or senior administrator at least ten days advance notice before taking vacation leave.

3. Sick Leave

- a. Full-time faculty who hold nine-month contracts are entitled to 1 day (8 hours) sick leave per month worked for a total of nine (9) days per year; those who hold ten month contracts will receive ten (10) days per year; those who hold twelve-month contracts will receive twelve (12) days per year. Core Faculty will receive nine (9) days per year. This time may be accumulated for a total sick leave period not to exceed ninety days. Part-time librarian faculty who work 1000 hours or more per fiscal year are entitled to two hours sick leave per month, up to an accumulated maximum of 24 hours.
- b. No prior provision is made for replacing a full-time or part-time faculty member who is unable to attend classes by reason of illness or other necessity. It is assumed that the classes will be cancelled or that other members of the department or program will take the classes temporarily as a service to the University.
- c. The sick faculty member is expected to notify the Dean's designee at the onset of an illness, so that arrangements can be made for the missed classes.
- d. If the illness of a full-time faculty member is an extended one, the faculty member must notify the Human Resources Office, so that FMLA benefits will be applied. Absence in excess of one semester will involve a cessation of salary. If illness continues, the faculty member may be granted a leave of absence.
- e. If the illness of a part-time faculty member is an extended one, a substitute will be provided and the salary of the substitute will be deducted from the salary of the absent faculty member.
- f. Faculty members may use their sick leave only if they are ill, for their medical and dental appointments, for childbirth, or for the illnesses or doctors' appointments for their dependent children, dependent parents, or their spouses, or other uses as mandated by law. Abuse of the University's sick leave policy is dishonesty and may lead to discharge from employment.

4. Bereavement Leave

a. A leave of absence with pay due to a death in the faculty member's immediate family is allowed for all faculty members. Such leave shall not be charged against vacation or sick leave. The immediate family, as it pertains to this policy, is defined as the employee's parents, spouse, children, son/daughter- in-law, step-children, brothers, step-brothers, sisters, step-sisters, brothers/ sisters-in-law, mother/father-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, or any dependent who has resided with the

employee for a period of at least one year. The maximum allowable bereavement leave is three working days. Any additional time off will be charged to either vacation leave or leave without pay.

b. The faculty member shall obtain the approval of the appropriate academic unit leader prior to going on a bereavement leave of absence. If circumstances make this impracticable, the faculty member shall notify the academic unit leader at the earliest possible time. Failure to do so may be cause for denying leave with pay.

5. Leave for Jury Duty

Full-time faculty members will receive their regular, full pay for all time served on jury duty, including all hours spent in preliminary examination.

6. Leave for Service in the Armed Forces

The University allows up to two weeks with pay for annual military reserve training leave taken by full-time and part-time faculty members if the leave is required during a period when the faculty member is scheduled to teach. Any personal recompense earned during a short leave will be deducted from the salary paid by the University, Military reserve training leave is not charged to sick leave or vacation accrual.

7. Leave for National Guard Duty

Full-time faculty members who are activated to National Guard duty for riots, disasters, etc. will be granted the difference between military pay and the salary paid by the University.

8. Academic Leave of Absence with Pay

Leaves of absence are granted to faculty of any rank for sufficient academic reason, such as advanced study, research, or creative activity that will prepare the faculty member for improved service to the University. Such leaves are granted by the President, with the approval of the Dean and Provost. Special arrangements must be made for longer periods. In the case of a leave of absence of a semester or longer, the University will not continue its contribution toward the faculty member's health insurance or retirement fund.

B. <u>Leaves Without Pay</u>

1. <u>Academic Leave of Absence Without Pay</u>

A leave of absence for educational or professional reasons may be granted to ranked faculty without salary by the Dean and Provost for a period of no more than two years. A favorable recommendation by the Committee of Rank and Tenure is considered. The faculty member's status or tenure will not be affected

by such leaves. Up to one year on such a leave may count toward step, promotion in rank, tenure or sabbatical time, at the discretion of the Committee on Rank and Tenure.

2. Personal Leave of Absence Without Pay

Ranked faculty wishing to have extended personal leave without pay will make their request to the School Dean. Ordinarily such leaves will not exceed one academic year. An effort should be made, however, to arrange the leave to coincide with the academic terms. The faculty member's status or tenure will not be affected by such leaves, but time on such leaves will not count toward promotion in rank, tenure, or sabbatical time. Consult the Human Resources Office for information on the Family and Medical Leave Act provisions.

II. OTHER FACULTY BENEFITS

A <u>Institutional Benefits for Faculty</u>

1. Tuition Remission

a. See The Employee Handbook for Administration and Staff.

2. Use of Swimming Pool

The swimming pool is open to employees and their families.

3. Facilities Usage

Employees may use the facilities of the Physical Education Department which include the swimming pool, tennis courts, gymnasium, and other approved facilities subject to University policies and regulations concerning the use thereof.

4. Ralston Hall - is closed; however,

Employees are entitled to a fifty percent (50%) reduction in the rate of rental for Ralston Hall. Arrangements must be made with the Coordinator of Ralston Hall.

5. <u>Bookstore Discounts</u>

Employees of the University are entitled to the following discounts on purchases made at the Notre Dame de Namur University Bookstore: A twenty percent (20%) discount is available on school, instructional, and office supply purchases. A ten percent (10%) discount is available on clothing, calculators, novelty items, and greeting card purchases. No discounts may be taken on book purchases or perishables.

B. <u>Institutional Benefits for Retired and Emeriti Faculty Members</u>

- 1. Notre Dame de Namur University is committed to promoting close ties between itself and its faculty members who have reduced their teaching load or retired. To this end, the following assistance and privileges are available at no charge for faculty who have retired from the University: use of the library, language laboratory, computer laboratories, pool, gymnasium, and parking facilities; placement in College mailing lists and directories; admission (with guest) to cultural events sponsored by the Art, Music, and Theatre Arts departments; attendance at faculty meetings with voice but without vote; and attendance at classes as auditors if space is available.
- 2. *Emeriti* faculty members have the additional privileges of representing the University officially if requested by the President, walking in academic processions, being listed in the University *Catalog*, and being provided office space if facilities permit.

APPENDIX H - NON-DISCRIMINATION

A. Equal Employment Policy

NDNU prohibits unlawful discrimination based on sex (including' race, color, religion, religious creed, age (over 18 years), mental or physical disability, medical condition as defined by law, national origin, ancestry, marital status, veteran status, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, and any other factor made unlawful by federal, state, or local law, including participation or non-participation in union activities. NDNU's commitment to equal opportunity employment applies to all persons involved in the operations of the University and prohibits unlawful discrimination by any employee of the University. Consequences for violation of the NDNU Policy are discipline up to and including discharge.

To comply with applicable laws ensuring equal employment opportunities to qualified individuals with disabilities, the University will provide reasonable accommodations for the known physical or mental limitations of an otherwise qualified individual who is an applicant or an employee, unless undue hardship for the University would result.

Any applicant or employee who requires or requests an accommodation in order to perform the essential functions of his or her job should be directed to the Executive Director of Human Resources to request and document the need for such an accommodation. The University will assess the request and if the accommodation is supported and is reasonable as determined by the University, and will not impose an undue hardship, the University will make the accommodation. The University may also propose alternative accommodation(s).

B. Procedure to Assist in Implementation of the Equal Employment Policy-Discrimination or Retaliation

If an employee believes that he or she has been subjected to any form of discrimination or retaliation, he or she should submit a written complaint to the Provost and/or Executive Director of HR. The employee may choose to submit a copy of the employee's complaint to the designated representative of the Union and if so, shall notify the Provost and Executive Director has done so. The complaint should be specific arid include the names of the individuals involved as well as the names of any witnesses. NDNU will, in all appropriate cases, immediately undertake an effective, thorough, and objective assessment. NDNU will consider the privacy and confidentiality of all parties involved. If the University determines that unlawful discrimination has occurred, effective remedial action will be taken. Appropriate action will also be taken to deter any future discrimination. Whatever action is taken will be made known to the complaining employee in general form. The University will not retaliate against an employee for filing any good-faith complaint and will not knowingly permit retaliation by management, coworkers, or other employees.

Local 1021 and NDNU each commits that its representatives will not engage in discrimination or retaliation of employees of the University, based upon participation or non-participation in union activities.

In addition to the University's internal reporting procedure for unlawful discrimination and retaliation, employees should be aware that the federal. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC)

and the California Department of Fair Employment and Housing (DFEH) investigate reports of unlawful discrimination in employment. Employees who believe that they have been discriminated against may file a report with the EEOC within 300 days of the conduct or with the DFEH within one year of the conduct. You may contact the nearest office of the EEOC or DFEH.

C. Prohibition of Unlawful Harassment

In accordance with applicable law, NDNU prohibits sexual harassment and other harassment based on sex (including gender), race, color, religion, religious creed, age (over 18 years), mental or physical disability, medical condition as defined by law, national origin, ancestry, marital status, veteran status, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, and any other factor made unlawful by federal, state, or local law, including participation or non-participation in union activities. The University is committed to taking all reasonable steps to prevent unlawful harassment.

The law defines sexual harassment as unwanted sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, or visual, verbal, or physical conduct of a sexual nature when: (1) submission to such conduct is made a term or condition of employment; (2) submission to or rejection of such conduct is used as a basis for employment decisions affecting the individual; or (3) such conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an employee's work performance or creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working environment.

Federal law, referred to as "Title IX", protects University students and other University community members from sexual misconduct. The University will notify the union of intake and other procedures that will govern Title IX reports related to students and others.

This definition includes many forms of offensive behavior, including, but not limited to unwanted sexual advances; offering employment in exchange for sexual favors; making or threatening reprisals after a negative response to sexual advances; visual conduct such as leering, making sexual gestures, or displaying pornographic objects, pictures, cartoons, or posters; verbal sexual advances or propositions; verbal abuse of a sexual nature; graphic verbal commentary about an individual's body; sexually degrading words to describe an individual; suggestive or obscene letters, notes, or invitations; or physical conduct such as touching, assault, or impeding or blocking movements.

Sexual harassment by any NDNU employee is forbidden whether it involves coworkers, supervisors, managers, faculty, students, or persons doing business with or for the University.

Within the Joint Labor Management Committee, the University may request consultation on ways that the union and University may mutually cooperate in support of this policy.

D. Procedure to Assist in Implementation of the Policy Against Unlawful Harassment

If an employee believes that he or she has been subjected to any form of harassment, s/he should submit a written complaint to the Executive Director of Human Resources and/or Provost. The employee may choose to submit a copy of the complaint designated representative of the Union and if so, shall notify the Provost and Executive HR in writing s/he has done so. The complaint should be specific and include the names of the individuals involved as well as the names of any witnesses. NDNU will, in all appropriate cases, immediately undertake an effective, thorough, and objective assessment. NDNU will consider the privacy and confidentiality of all parties involved. If the

University determines that unlawful harassment has occurred, effective remedial action will be taken. Appropriate action will also be taken to deter any future harassment. Whatever action is taken will be made known to the complaining employee in general terms. The University will not retaliate against an employee for filing any good-faith complaint and will not knowingly permit retaliation by management, coworkers, or other employees.

In addition to the University's internal reporting procedure for unlawful harassment, employees should be aware that the federal Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) and the California Department of Fair Employment and Housing (DFEH) investigate reports of unlawful discrimination and harassment in employment. Employees who believe that they have been discriminated against or sexually harassed may file a report with the EEOC within 300 days of the conduct or with the DFEH within one year of the conduct. Employees may contact the nearest office of the EEOC or DFEH.

E. Policy Prohibiting Close Personal Relationship in Teaching, Mentoring, and Supervisory Activities

The University is committed to maintaining a learning and working environment that is free from unlawful harassment and discrimination, and also from the potentially adverse effects that can arise from close personal relationships in the course of teaching, mentoring and supervisory activities, including those involving students. The following Policy is intended to prevent situations from arising in which violations of the Equal Employment Policy can occur and in which perceptions of such violations can arise.

Such relationships at the University may interfere with the ability of the teacher, mentor and supervisor to act fairly and without favoritism or may contribute to the perception of favoritism. Except where explicit approval has been obtained in writing from the provost, no person who provides teaching, mentoring or supervisory functions at the University may participate in a close personal relationship with an individual who is a member of the University community for whom that person provides, or may (by virtue of University-permitted or-assigned position or functions) reasonably be expected in the future to provide teaching, mentoring or supervision.

"Supervision" includes grading or other academic evaluation, tutoring for pay, job evaluation, hiring decisions and those pertaining to promotion, the direct setting of salary or wages, and the determination of internship, educational, or employment opportunities, references or recommendations. A "supervisor" is anyone who oversees, directs or evaluates the work of others, including, but not limited to managers, administrators, coaches, directors, deans, and advisors.

"Close personal relationships" include marriage, domestic partner, dating, sexual and similar close personal relationships, even if they are consensually undertaken. "Close personal relationships" do not include the usual and customary socializing at the University of teacher- student; mentor-mentee; supervisor-employee; faculty member-graduate student; co-workers; and supervisor-student employee.

Within Joint Labor-Management Committee, the University may request consultation on ways that the Union and University may mutually cooperate in support of this policy.

M

APPENDIX I - FACULTY SALARY SCHEDULES

FACULTY SALARY SCHEDULES 2017-18

Effective:

August 15, 2017

NDNU FULL TIME FACULTY SALARY SCALE

FULL TIME	ASST, PROF.		ASSOC. PR	OF	PROFESSOR	
STEP	9 months	12 months	9 months	12 months	9 months	12 months
Instructor	55,031	73,375				
1			64,824	86,430	75,149	100,196
2			66,768	89,022	77,403	103,203
3			68,772	91,695	79,725	106,298
4	62,020	82,691	70,834	94,445	82,117	109,487
5	63,879	85,172	72,960	97,279	84,579	112,773
6		48		<u>.</u>	87,117	116,155
7					89,731	119,640
8		- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			92,423	123,230

NDNU FULL TIME LIBRARIAN SALARY SCALE

FULL TIME	ASST. LIBRARIAN	ASSOC. LIBRARIAN
STEP	10 months	10 months
1		72,026
2		74,187
3		76,413
4	68,911	78,705
5	70,977	81,066

NDNU PART TIME FACULTY SCALE (August 15, 2017)

	RATE PER UNIT	LAB RATE
LEVEL		
1 (4)	1,216	811
2 (5)	1,364	909
3 (6)	1,551	1,034
SENIOR LECTURER	1,736	1,158

NDNU PRIVATE MUSIC LESSON SCALE

LEVEL		
1 (4)	860	
2 (5)	962	<u> </u>
3 (6)	1,078	

NDNU CORE FACULTY SCALE

	(10% ABOVE PT SCALE)	LAB RATE
LEVEL		
1 (4)	1,338	892
2 (5)	1,500	1,000
3 (6)	1,706	1,138
SENIOR LECTURER	1,910	1,273

FACULTY SALARY SCHEDULES 2018-19

Effective:

August 15, 2018

NDNU FULL TIME FACULTY SALARY SCALE

FULL TIME	ASST, PROF.		ASSOC. P	ROF	PROFESSO	OR [']
STEP	9 months	12 months	9 months	12 months	9 months	12 months
Instructor	56,132	74,842				
1			66,120	88,159	76,651	102,200
2		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	68,103	90,803	78,951	105,267
3			70,147	93,529	81,319	108,424
4	63,260	84,345	72,251	96,334	83,759	111,676
5	65,157	86,875	74,419	99,224	86,271	115,028
6		· .			88,860	118,478
7					91,526	122,033
8		·····			94,272	125,694

NDNU FULL TIME LIBRARIAN SALARY SCALE



FULL TIME	ASST. LIBRARIAN	ASSOC. Librarian
STEP	10 months	10 months
1		73,467
2		75,670
3		77,941
4	70,289	80,279
5	72,396	82,688

NDNU PART TIME FACULTY SCALE

	RATE PER UNIT	LAB RATE
LEVEL		
1 (4)	1,241	827
2 (5)	1,391	927
3 (6)	1,582	1,055
SENIOR LECTURER	1,771	1,181

NDNU PRIVATE MUSIC LESSON SCALE

LEVEL		
1 (4)	878	
2 (5)	981	
3 (6)	1,100	

NDNU CORE FACULTY SCALE

	(10% ABOVE PT'SCALE)	LAB RATE
LEVEL		
1 (4)	1,365	910
2 (5)	1,530	1,020
3 (6)	1,740	1,160
SENIOR LECTURER	1,948	1,299

My

FACULTY SALARY SCHEDULES 2019-20

Effective: August 15, 2019

Increase: 2.0%

NDNU FULL TIME FACULTY SALARY SCALE

FULL TIME	ASST. PROF.		ASSOC. 1	PROF	PROFESS	OR
STEP	9 months	12 months	9 months	12 months	9 months	12 months
Instructor	57,254	76,339				
1			67,443	89,922	78,184	104,244
2			69,465	92,619	80,530	107,372
3			71,550	95,399	82,946	110,593
4	64,526	86,032	73,696	98,261	85,435	113,910
5	66,460	88,612	75,907	101,209	87,996	117,329
6					90,637	120,848
7					93,356	124,474
8					96,15 <i>7</i>	128,208

NDNU FULL TIME LIBRARIAN SALARY SCALE

FULL TIME	ASST. LIBRARIAN	ASSOC, LIBRARIAN
STEP	10 months	10 months
1		74,936
2		77,184
3		79,500
4	71,695	81,884
5	73,844	84,341

NDNU PART TIME FACULTY SCALE

TIDITO XIIICI TIMIZINICOZI I DOMBE		
	RATE PER UNIT	LAB RATE
LEVEL		
1 (4)	1,266	844
2 (5)	1,419	946
3 (6)	1,646	1,097
SENIOR LECTURER	1,843	1,228

Additional

2%

NDNU PRIVATE MUSIC LESSON SCALE

LEVEL		-
1 (4)	895	_
2 (5)	1,001	
3 (6)	1,122	

NDNU CORE FACULTY SCALE

	(10% ABOVE PT SCALE)	LAB RATE
LEVEL		
1 (4)	1,392	928
2 (5)	1,560	1,040
3 (6)	1,811	1,207
SENIOR LECTURER	2,027	1,351

SIDE LETTER - PPP

NDNU will consider a cohort model of Master's in English and Education programs. The Provost will request academic unit leaders to propose a cohort model. The Provost will evaluate the proposal and the President will make the decision.

The Collective Bargaining Agreement is hereby executed.

SEIU Local 1021, AFL-CIO	NOTRE DAME DE NAMUR UNIVERSITY
2tt 1	Quality Majwell She's PRESIDENT OF THE UNIVERSITY
Jos 108	
Rola Jen	·
Sugan Raffo	
Mysty	
Butchste	SW-37-
Jah Stead Menday	·